QUILLEN (CO)HOMOLOGY OF DIVIDED POWER ALGEBRAS OVER AN OPERAD

IOANNIS DOKAS, MARTIN FRANKLAND, AND SACHA IKONICOFF

ABSTRACT. Barr–Beck cohomology, put into the framework of model categories by Quillen, provides a cohomology theory for any algebraic structure, for example André–Quillen cohomology of commutative rings. Quillen cohomology has been studied notably for divided power algebras and restricted Lie algebras, both of which are instances of divided power algebras over an operad \mathcal{P} : the commutative and Lie operad respectively. In this paper, we investigate the Quillen cohomology of divided power algebras over an operad \mathcal{P} , identifying Beck modules, derivations, and Kähler differentials in that setup. We also compare the cohomology of divided power algebras over \mathcal{P} with that of \mathcal{P} -algebras, and work out some examples.

CONTENTS

| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
|----|---|----------|
| 2 | Preliminaries on Quillen cohomology | 5 |
| 3 | Recollections on divided power algebras | 6 |
| 4 | Abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras, A-modules | 7 |
| 5 | Beck modules over A | 1 |
| 6 | Universal enveloping algebra | 21 |
| 7 | Derivations, Module of Kähler differentials | 25 |
| 8 | Quillen cohomology $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 26 |
| 9 | Example: The operad Com | 27 |
| 10 | Example: The operad Lie | 2 |
| 11 | Comparisons | 6 |
| 12 | Divided power algebras versus commutative algebras | 9 |
| 13 | Restricted Lie algebras versus Lie algebras | 1 |
| 14 | Associative algebras versus restricted Lie algebras | 3 |
| 15 | Good triple of operads and comparison maps in Quillen (co)homology | 4 |

1. INTRODUCTION

Barr–Beck cohomology is a cohomology theory for general algebraic structures, based on simplicial resolutions [BB69]. It recovers (up to a shift in degree) group cohomology, Chevalley– Eilenberg cohomology of Lie algebras, and Hochschild cohomology of algebras over a field; see for instance [Dus75, Bar96]. One important example is André–Quillen cohomology of commutative rings [And67, And74], put into the framework of model categories by Quillen [Qui67, Qui70], which

Date: March 28, 2024.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 18M70; Secondary 17B50, 17B56, 13D03.

Key words and phrases. divided power algebra, operad, restricted Lie algebra, Beck module, Quillen cohomology, triple cohomology.

has various applications in algebra and algebraic geometry. Quillen cohomology later found applications in topology, often in the guise of inputs to spectral sequences [Mil84, Goe90] or obstructions in realization and classification problems [GH00, GH04, BDG04, Fra11, BB11, BJT12].

DIVIDED POWER ALGEBRAS

Divided power structures are algebraic structures which are fairly ubiquitous when working over a field of positive characteristic. N. Jacobson introduced the concept of restricted Lie algebra to study modular Lie theory [Jac62]. A restricted Lie algebra is a Lie algebra equipped with an additional operation called the *p*-map, which satisfies specific relations. The archetypal example of a restricted Lie algebra is an associative algebra in prime characteristic equipped with the Lie bracket given by the commutator, and with the *p*-map given by the *p*-th power. Restricted Lie algebras appear notably in field theory [Jac37], linear algebraic groups [Bor91], and the cohomology of the Steenrod algebra [May66].

G. Hochschild, and later B. Pareigis, defined cohomology groups of restricted Lie algebras [Hoc54, Par68]. In [Dok04], the first author developed the Quillen cohomology theory for restricted Lie algebras. In contrast to the cases of associative algebras and Lie algebras, this cohomology does not coincide with Hochschild cohomology for restricted Lie algebras. In [Dok15], 2-fold extensions of restricted Lie algebras are classified using Duskin's and Glenn's torsor cohomology ([Dus75, Gle82]) and the work of Cegarra and Aznar [CA86].

The notion of algebra with divided powers was introduced by H. Cartan in [Car56] to study certain bar constructions of commutative algebras, and further developed by N. Roby [Rob65]. A divided power algebra is a commutative algebra endowed with additional operations γ_n which satisfy specific relations. An algebra A over \mathbb{Q} is naturally equipped with a structure of divided powers algebra such that $\gamma_n(x) = \frac{x^n}{n!}$ for all $x \in A$. Without any restriction on the ground ring, H. Cartan proves in [Car56] that the homotopy of a simplicial commutative algebra comes naturally equipped with the structure of a divided power algebra. The notion of divided power algebra is essential in the theory of crystalline cohomology for schemes introduced by A. Grothendieck [Gro68] and developed by P. Berthelot [Ber74]. The first author studied Quillen cohomology of divided power algebras [Dok09, Dok23].

OPERADS

Operads are an algebraic device which represent types of algebras, such as associative algebras, commutative algebras, and Lie algebras. The theory of operads has proven to be a powerful tool in studying different categories of algebras in a unified way. For instance, in the seminal book [LV12], J.-L. Loday and B. Vallette make a detailed account of many known homological and homotopical theories for algebras over an operad. This includes a notion of Quillen (co)homology for algebras over an operad, studied in [Liv98, Fre98, Mil11, GH00]. In the quadratic case, this is studied through a notion of Koszul duality due to V. Ginzburg and M. Kapranov [GK94] (see also [GJ94, Fre04]). It also includes a notion of deformation theory due to M. Gerstenhaber [Ger64] (see [Bal97, KS00, Kel05] for the operadic account), which led the way to the solution of the Deligne conjecture by D. Tamarkin [Tam98].

The notion of divided power algebras over an operad was introduced by B. Fresse in [Fre00]. While usual algebras over an operad \mathcal{P} are algebras over a monad $S(\mathcal{P})$ built from \mathcal{P} using coinvariant operations, divided power algebras over \mathcal{P} are algebras over a monad $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ which is built using *invariant* operations. This recovers the classical notion of divided power algebras of Cartan, and Fresse shows that it also encompasses the notion of restricted Lie algebra of Jacobson. Furthermore, Fresse generalises Cartan's result by showing that the homotopy of a simplicial algebra over \mathcal{P} is always equipped with a structure of divided power algebra over \mathcal{P} . Divided power algebras were further studied by the third author, who obtained a convenient characterisation for these objects using monomial operations [Iko20]. The aim of this article is to study the Quillen cohomology of divided power algebras over any operad \mathcal{P} , using the techniques due to Quillen, Barr and Beck. This generalises work of the first author [Dok04, Dok09, Dok23].

OUTLINE AND MAIN RESULTS

Sections 2 and 3 are background sections. In Section 2, we recall the basic constructions leading to Quillen homology and cohomology. In Section 3, we recall a characterisation for divided power algebras obtained by the third author in [Iko20] which we will use throughout the article. As a preliminary useful result, we obtain the following:

Proposition (see Proposition 3.4). The structure of a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra is entirely determined by monomial operations whose monomial degrees are powers of the characteristic of the base field.

The rest of the article is divided into three parts.

I. General theory. In Sections 4 to 8, we develop the general notion of Quillen cohomology for $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras.

II. Examples. In Sections 9 and 10, we apply these constructions to the examples of classical divided power algebras, and of restricted Lie algebras, and recover known results.

III. Comparisons. In Sections 11 to 15, we investigate different comparison maps induced by adjunctions, which allow us to compare our cohomology for $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras to more usual cohomology theories in certain categories of algebras.

In Section 4, we introduce a new notion of module over a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra and of abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ algebra, which corresponds to a module over the trivial (or terminal) $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra. Section 5 is devoted to the proof of the following result:

Theorem (see Theorem 5.2). The data of a Beck module over the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A is equivalent to the data of an A-module as in Definition 4.5.

One side of the equivalence is obtained by building a new notion of semidirect product for Amodules.

In Section 6, we build a ring $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ which represents the operations defining the notion of an A-module. We obtain the following result:

Theorem (See Theorem 6.11). The category of A-modules is equivalent to the category of left modules over $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$.

In Section 7, we identify Beck derivations in the category of A-modules, and we build an A-module $\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ which represents these derivations.

Section 8 concludes our general theory by identifying the left adjoint functor to the functor which sends an A module M to the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra over A obtained by the semidirect product $A \ltimes M$ of M by A. More precisely, we obtain:

Theorem (See Theorem 8.2). The following two functors form an adjoint pair:

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-Alg}/A \xrightarrow[A \ltimes -]{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(-)} \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(-)}}{A\text{-Mod.}} A\text{-Mod.}$$

This induces an analogue of Quillen's cotangent complex, and by deriving the simplicial extension of this left adjoint functor, we obtain the desired Quillen homology of A.

In Sections 9 and 10, we reconcile our general theory with the study of classical divided power algebras and of restricted Lie algebras by the first author in [Dok04, Dok09, Dok15, Dok23].

In the remaining sections of the article, we investigate the different comparison maps induced by certain adjunctions involving categories of divided power algebras. We focus on two types of such adjunctions. First, for any operad \mathcal{P} , there is an adjunction between the category of \mathcal{P} -algebras and

the category of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras. Second, any morphism of operads $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{Q}$ induces an adjunction between the categories of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ - and $\Gamma(\mathcal{Q})$ -algebras, similar to the extension/restriction of scalars adjunction for modules over a ring. In Section 11, we describe the comparison maps induced by both types of adjunctions in a general setting.

In Section 12, we study the first type of adjunction for the operad Com of commutative algebras, which produces comparison maps between the usual Quillen cohomology of a commutative algebra, and the Quillen cohomology of a certain associated divided power algebra. Similarly, in Section 13, we produce a comparison map between the usual Quillen cohomology of a Lie algebra, and the Quillen cohomology of a certain associated restricted Lie algebra.

In Section 14, we study an adjunction between associative algebras and restricted Lie algebras which is induced by an injection of the operad of Lie algebras into the operad of associative algebras. We obtain the following:

Theorem (See Theorem 14.2). Let L be a restricted Lie algebra and M a u(L)-bimodule. Then there is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{As}}^{*}(u(L), M) \cong \operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{RLie}}^{*}(L, u(L)M).$$

Here, u(L) denotes an analogue of the universal enveloping algebra for restricted Lie algebras, HQ^{*}_{As} is the usual Quillen cohomology for associative algebras, and HQ^{*}_{RLie} is the Quillen cohomology for restricted Lie algebras. This result is analogous to a classical theorem of Cartan and Eilenberg, which gives an isomorphism between Chevalley–Eilenberg cohomology of a Lie algebra L and Hochschild cohomology of its universal enveloping algebra U(L) [CE56, §XIII, Theorem 5.1].

Finally, in Section 15, we come back to the case were the base field is of characteristic 0, and we study the case of a good triple of operads $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{P})$. In this case, the notions of \mathcal{P} -algebras and $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras coincide. Good triples of operads generalise the mutual behaviours of the operads of commutative, of associative, and of Lie algebras. In particular, we see the operad \mathcal{P} as a suboperad \mathcal{A} of a certain type. In this setting, we can generalise the result of the previous section, and we obtain:

Theorem (See Theorem 15.2). Let $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{P})$ be a good triple of operads. Let P be an \mathcal{P} -algebra and M a Beck U(P)-module. Then we have the following isomorphism

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{\mathcal{A}\operatorname{-Alg}}^*(U(P), M) \simeq \operatorname{HQ}_{\mathcal{P}\operatorname{-Alg}}^*(P, PM).$$

Here again, U(P) denotes a certain notion of universal enveloping \mathcal{A} -algebra, $\mathrm{HQ}^*_{\mathcal{A}-\mathrm{Alg}}$ is the Quillen cohomology for \mathcal{A} -algebras, and $\mathrm{HQ}^*_{\mathcal{P}-\mathrm{Alg}}$ is the Quillen cohomology for \mathcal{P} -algebras. If we consider the good triple (Com, As, Lie), then Theorem 15.2 recovers the Cartan–Eilenberg result in characteristic zero.

While this last section focusses on the characteristic zero setting, there is evidence that the notion of good triple of operads can be generalised in positive characteristic, and we expect that our result still holds under the correct assumptions. Formulating these assumptions is—to our knowledge—an open problem for future consideration.

CONVENTIONS AND NOTATIONS

All the operads considered in this article will be algebraic, symmetric operads. We assume the reader has a good familiarity with this notion of operad. For more details, we refer to [LV12].

For this whole article, we fix a base field \mathbb{F} and an operad \mathcal{P} in \mathbb{F} -vector spaces that is reduced, i.e., satisfying $\mathcal{P}(0) = 0$. A $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra will be generically denoted A.

Notation 1.1. We will denote:

- Vect_{\mathbb{F}} the category of \mathbb{F} -vector spaces.
- \mathcal{P} -Alg the category of \mathcal{P} -algebras in $\operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}}$, with forgetful functor $U_{\mathbb{F}}^{\mathcal{P}} \colon \mathcal{P}$ -Alg $\to \operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}}$ and its left adjoint $F_{\mathbb{F}}^{\mathcal{P}} \colon \operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}} \to \mathcal{P}$ -Alg.

• $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg the category of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras in $\operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}}$, with forgetful functor $U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \colon \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg $\to \mathcal{P}$ -Alg and its left adjoint $F_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \colon \mathcal{P}$ -Alg $\to \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg.

Acknowledgements

We thank Muriel Livernet for helpful discussions.

Frankland acknowledges the support of the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), grant RGPIN-2019-06082. Ikonicoff acknowledges the support of the Fields Institute.

2. Preliminaries on Quillen Cohomology

Throughout this section, let C be an algebraic category. More details about the kinds of categories we may consider are given in [Fra15, §2]. For the purposes of this paper, the categories of \mathcal{P} -algebras and $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras are examples of algebraic categories, in fact, the one-sorted kind: sets equipped with certain operations satisfying certain equations. Let us recall some terminology, also found in [Bar96] and [Fra15, §1.3].

Definition 2.1. For an object X of C, a **Beck module** over X is an abelian group object in the slice category C/X. The category of Beck modules over X is denoted $(C/X)_{ab}$.

Definition 2.2. The abelianization over X is the functor $Ab_X : \mathcal{C}/X \to (\mathcal{C}/X)_{ab}$ which is left adjoint to the forgetful functor $U_X : (\mathcal{C}/X)_{ab} \to \mathcal{C}/X$.

Definition 2.3. For a map $f: X \to Y$ in \mathcal{C} , the pullback functor $f^*: \mathcal{C}/Y \to \mathcal{C}/X$ preserves limits and thus induces a functor $f^*: (\mathcal{C}/Y)_{ab} \to (\mathcal{C}/X)_{ab}$, also called **pullback**. The **pushforward** along f is the left adjoint $f_!: (\mathcal{C}/X)_{ab} \to (\mathcal{C}/Y)_{ab}$ of f^* .

Lemma 2.4. Given a map $f: X \to Y$ in C viewed as an object of the slice category C/Y, its abelianization is given by

$$Ab_Y(X \xrightarrow{J} Y) \cong f_!(Ab_XX)$$

where $Ab_X X$ is shorthand for $Ab_X(X \xrightarrow{\text{id}} X)$.

Definition 2.5. Given a Beck module pr: $E \rightarrow X$ over X, a (Beck) **derivation** from X to E is a section of pr. The set of derivations is denoted

$$\operatorname{Der}(X, E) \coloneqq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}/X}(X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}} X, E \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}} X) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{(\mathcal{C}/X)_{\operatorname{ab}}}(Ab_X X, E \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}} X).$$

Note that Der(X, E) is canonically an abelian group.

The module of **Kähler differentials** of X is $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}}(X) \coloneqq Ab_X X$, which represents derivations.

Definition 2.6. The cotangent complex \mathbf{L}_X of X is the derived abelianization of X, i.e., the simplicial module over X given by $\mathbf{L}_X := Ab_X(C_{\bullet} \to X)$, where $C_{\bullet} \to X$ is a cofibrant replacement of X in $s\mathcal{C}$.

Definition 2.7. The n^{th} **Quillen homology** module of X is the n^{th} (simplicially) derived functor of abelianization, given by $\operatorname{HQ}_n(X) \coloneqq \pi_n(\mathbf{L}_X)$. Note that $\operatorname{HQ}_n(X)$ is a Beck module over X.

Definition 2.8. The n^{th} **Quillen cohomology** group of X with coefficients in a module M is the n^{th} (simplicially) derived functor of derivations, given by $\operatorname{HQ}^n(X; M) \coloneqq \pi^n \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{L}_X, M)$. Note that $\operatorname{HQ}^n(X; M)$ is an abelian group.

Example 2.9. Assuming C is a one-sorted algebraic category, consider the underlying set functor $U = U_{\text{Set}}^{\mathcal{C}} \colon C \to \text{Set}$ and its left adjoint $F = F_{\text{Set}}^{\mathcal{C}} \colon \text{Set} \to C$. Iterating the free-of-forget comonad FU yields the standard augmented simplicial object

$$C_{\bullet} \coloneqq (FU)^{\bullet+1}(X) \to X,$$

which is a cofibrant replacement of X in sC. This was the original approach used by Barr and Beck [BB69], and by M. André in his work on André–Quillen cohomology [And67, And74].

3. Recollections on divided power algebras

In this section, we review the general notion of a divided power algebra over an operad \mathcal{P} , which are also called $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras, due to Fresse [Fre00]. Throughout this article, we use the characterisation of divided power algebras in terms of monomial operations due to the third author [Iko20]. We rely heavily on the notation introduced in [Iko20] for those operations, and operations on partitions of integers.

Recall that an operad \mathcal{P} is a sequence $\{\mathcal{P}(n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that for all $n, \mathcal{P}(n)$ is an \mathbb{F} -linear representation of the symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n on n letters. An operad is called reduced when $\mathcal{P}(0) = 0$, and Fresse showed the following:

Proposition 3.1 ([Fre00, §1.1.18]). For a reduced operad \mathcal{P} , the endofunctor $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ in vector spaces defined on objects by:

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{P}, V) = \bigoplus_{n>0} (\mathcal{P}(n) \otimes V^{\otimes n})^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$$

is equipped with a monad structure.

Here, $(\mathcal{P}(n) \otimes V^{\otimes n})^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ stands for the module of invariant under the diagonal action of \mathfrak{S}_n , where the action of \mathfrak{S}_n on $V^{\otimes n}$ is the usual permutation of factors.

Definition 3.2. A divided power \mathcal{P} -algebra, or $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra, is an algebra over the resulting monad $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$.

Theorem 3.3 ([Iko20]). A divided power algebra over a reduced operad \mathcal{P} is a vector space A endowed with a family of operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}: A^{\times s} \to A$, given for all $\underline{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_s)$ such that $r_1 + \cdots + r_s = n$ and $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$, and which satisfy the relations:

- ($\beta 1$) $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_i)_i) = \beta_{\rho^* \cdot x,\underline{r}^{\rho}}((a_{\rho^{-1}(i)})_i)$ for all $\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_s$, where ρ^* denotes the block permutation with blocks of size (r_i) associated to ρ .
- $(\beta 2) \ \beta_{x,(0,r_1,r_2,\dots,r_s)}(a_0,a_1,\dots,a_s) = \beta_{x,(r_1,r_2,\dots,r_s)}(a_1,\dots,a_s).$
- $(\beta 3) \ \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\lambda a_1, a_2, \dots, a_s) = \lambda^{r_1} \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s) \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{F}.$
- (β 4) If $r_1 + \cdots + r_s = n$ and $q_1 + \cdots + q_{s'} = s$, then

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\underbrace{a_1,\ldots,a_1}_{q_1},\underbrace{a_2,\ldots,a_2}_{q_2},\ldots,\underbrace{a_s,\ldots,a_s}_{q_{s'}}) = \beta_{\left(\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}}\underline{q}\triangleright\underline{r}/\mathfrak{S}\underline{r}}\sigma\cdot x\right), \ \underline{q}\triangleright\underline{r}}(a_1,a_2,\ldots,a_s).$$

- ($\beta 5$) $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_0 + a_1, \dots, a_s) = \sum_{l+m=r_1} \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{o_1}(l,m)}(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_s).$
- $(\beta 6) \ \beta_{\lambda x+y,\underline{r}} = \lambda \beta_{x,\underline{r}} + \beta_{y,\underline{r}} \ , \ for \ all \ x, y \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}},$
- $(\beta \gamma) \beta_{1_{\mathcal{P}},(1)}(a) = a \quad \forall a \in A.$
- (β 8) Let $r_1 + \dots + r_s = n$, $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$ and for all $i \in [s]$, let $q_{i,1} + \dots + q_{i,k_i} = m_i$, $x_i \in \mathcal{P}(m_i)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}_i}}$ and $(b_{ij})_{1 \leq j \leq k_i} \in A^{\times k_i}$. Denote by $b = (b_{ij})_{i \in [s], j \in [k_i]}$ and for all $i \in [s]$, $b_i = (b_{i,j})_{j \in [k_i]}$. Then:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\beta_{x_1,\underline{q}_1}(b_1),\ldots,\beta_{x_s,\underline{q}_s}(b_s)) = \beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau \cdot x(x_1^{\times r_1},\ldots,x_s^{\times r_s}),\underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_i)_{i \in [s]}}(b),$$

where $\underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_i)_{i \in [s]}$ is defined in [Iko20], where $\beta_{:,\underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_i)_{i \in [s]}}$ is defined in [Iko20] and where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r} \diamond (q_i)_{i \in [s]}}/(\prod_{i=1}^s \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}_i})$ in the sum.

We can slightly refine this characterisation if we specify the characteristic of the base field:

Proposition 3.4. Let A be a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra over a field \mathbb{F} of characteristic p. Then, the operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}$ are generated by the family of operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}$ such that all the r_is are powers of p.

Proof. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $r_1 + \cdots + r_s = n$, and $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$. For each $i \in [s]$, denote $r_i = \sum_{j=0}^{k_{r_i}} r_{i,j} p^j$ the mod p expansion of r_i . For all $i \in [s]$ and $j \in \{0, \ldots, k_i\}$, denote by $R_{ij} = r_{i,j}p^j$. We get a partition $\underline{R} = (R_{1,0}, \ldots, R_{1,k_{r_1}}, R_{2,0}, \ldots, R_{s,k_s})$ of [n] into $k_{r_1} + \cdots + k_{r_s} + s$ integers. Note that since \underline{R} is finer than \underline{r} , x is fixed by the action of $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{R}}$. Since $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\underline{r}}$, we obtain

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{R}}} x = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s} \binom{r_i}{r_{i,0}p^0, \dots, r_{i,k_{r_i}}p^{k_{r_i}}}\right) x.$$

Using Lucas's Theorem, the product $\prod_{i=1}^{k} {r_i \choose r_{i,0}p^0, \dots, r_{i,k_{r_i}}p^{r_k}}$ is equal to 1 modulo p. Using relation (β 4), we then get:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s) = \beta_{x,\underline{R}}(\underbrace{a_1,\ldots,a_1}_{k_{r_1}+1},\ldots,\underbrace{a_s,\ldots,a_s}_{k_{r_s}})$$

Now, consider the partition

$$\underline{Q} := (\underbrace{p^{0}, \dots, p^{0}}_{r_{1,0}}, \dots, \underbrace{p^{k_{r_{1}}}, \dots, p^{k_{r_{1}}}}_{r_{1,k_{r_{1}}}}, \dots, \underbrace{p^{k_{r_{s}}}, \dots, p^{k_{r_{s}}}}_{r_{s,k_{r_{s}}}}).$$

Since \underline{Q} is finer than \underline{R} , x is stable under the action of \mathfrak{S}_Q . Using Lucas's Theorem again, we get:

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{R}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{Q}}} \sigma x = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s} \prod_{j=1}^{k_{r_i}} \binom{r_{i,j}p^j}{p^j, \dots, p_j} \right) x$$
$$= \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s} \prod_{j=1}^{k_{r_i}} r_{i,j}! \right) x.$$

Since $r_{i,j} < p$ for all $i, j, r_{i,j}!$ is invertible modulo p. So, we can write:

$$x = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s} \prod_{j=1}^{k_{r_i}} (r_{i,j}!)^{-1}\right) \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{R}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{Q}}} \sigma x,$$

and so, using relation $(\beta 8)$,

$$\beta_{x,\underline{R}}(\underbrace{a_1,\ldots,a_1}_{k_{r_1}+1},\ldots,\underbrace{a_s,\ldots,a_s}_{k_{r_s}}) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^s \prod_{j=1}^{k_{r_i}} (r_{i,j}!)^{-1}\right) \beta_{x,\underline{Q}}(\underbrace{a_1,\ldots,a_1}_{r_{1,0}+\cdots+r_{1,k_{r_1}}},\ldots,\underbrace{a_s,\ldots,a_s}_{r_{s,0}+\cdots+r_{s,k_{r_s}}}).$$

Here, the integers in \underline{Q} are either 0s or powers of p. Using relation ($\beta 2$) allows us to remove the 0s, and we obtain the result.

4. Abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Algebras, A-Modules

In order to obtain an analogue of the André–Quillen cohomology of operadic algebras [LV12, §12.3] on divided power algebras, we will study the notion of a module over a divided power algebra, which is obtained by looking at certain abelian (or square-zero) extensions. In the setting of usual (non-unital) \mathbb{F} -algebras, since any vector space can be equipped with trivial algebra structure, the category of abelian (square-zero) \mathbb{F} -algebras coincide with the category of \mathbb{F} -vector spaces. An Amodule then becomes a vector space equipped with an A-action. However, we will see that, in the category of divided power algebras, abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras correspond to vector spaces equipped with additional internal operations, and therefore, requires a separate definition. This section contains our candidates for the definitions of abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras and of A-modules, and we will show in the next section that these are indeed the right definitions (see Theorem 5.2, Corollary 5.4).

Definition 4.1. An abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra is a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra M such that all the operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}$ are trivial as soon as \underline{r} contains two non-zero integers. Abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras with $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra morphisms form a category ($\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg)_{Ab}.

Proposition 4.2. Equivalently, an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra is a vector space M equipped, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$, with an operation (a set map) $\beta_x \colon M \to M$ satisfying:

(Ab β 3) $\beta_x(\lambda m) = \lambda^n \beta_x(m),$

- (Ab β 4) Suppose there is $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_s(n)$, with s > 1 and \underline{r} contains at least two non-zero integers, and $y \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ such that $x = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}} y$. Then $\beta_x = 0$,
- $(Ab\beta 5) \ \beta_x(m_1 + m_2) = \beta_x(m_1) + \beta_x(m_2),$
- $(Ab\beta 6) \ \beta_{\lambda x+y}(m) = \lambda \beta_x(m_1) + \beta_y(m_2),$

 $(Ab\beta 7) \ \beta_{1_{\mathcal{P}}}(m) = m,$

$$(Ab\beta 8) \ \beta_x(\beta_y(m)) = \beta_{\sum_{\tau} \tau \cdot x(y,\dots,y)}(m), \text{ where } y \in \mathcal{P}(l) \text{ and } \tau \text{ ranges over } \mathfrak{S}_{nl}/\mathfrak{S}_n \wr \mathfrak{S}_l$$

Proof. Let M be a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ algebra such that all the operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}$ are trivial as soon as \underline{r} contains two non-zero integers. For all $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$, denote by $\beta_x := \beta_{x,(n)}$. We will prove that relations (Ab β 3) to (Ab β 8) are satisfied:

(Ab β 3) is a direct consequence of (β 3),

(Ab β 4) is deduced from (β 4) in the following way: if there is $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_s(n)$ with s > 1 and \underline{r} contains at least two non-zero integers, and $y \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ such that $x = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n / \mathfrak{S}_r} y$, then

$$\beta_x(m) = \beta_{x,(n)}(m) = \beta_{y,\underline{r}}(m,\ldots,m) = 0.$$

(Ab β 5) is deduced from (β 5) and (β 2) in the following way:

$$\beta_x(m+m') = \beta_{x,(n)}(m+m') = \sum_{i+j=n} \beta_{x,(i,j)}(m,m') = \beta_{x,(n,0)}(m,m') + \beta_{x,(0,n)}(m,m')$$
$$= \beta_x(m) + \beta_x(m').$$

(Ab β 6) is a direct consequence of (β 6),

(Ab β 7) is a direct consequence of (β 7),

(Ab β 8) is a direct consequence of (β 8).

Let now M be a vector space equipped, for all $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$, with an operation $\beta_x \colon M \to M$, satisfying the relations (Ab β 3) to (Ab β 8). For all $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ and $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_s(n)$, define an s-ary operation $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}$, such that:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(m_1,\ldots,m_s) = \begin{cases} \beta_x(m_i) & \text{if } r_i = n, \\ 0 & \text{if } \underline{r} \text{ contains at least two non-zero integers.} \end{cases}$$

We want to show that $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}$ satisfy the relations (β 1) to (β 8). Relations (β 1) and (β 2), are a direct consequence of the definition. Relations (β 3), (β 5), (β 6), (β 7) are direct consequences respectively of relations (Ab β 3), (Ab β 5), (Ab β 6), and (Ab β 7).

To prove relation $(\beta 4)$, note that the left term of the equality,

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\underbrace{a_1,\ldots,a_1}_{q_1},\underbrace{a_2,\ldots,a_2}_{q_2},\ldots,\underbrace{a_s,\ldots,a_s}_{q_{s'}}),$$

is equal to 0 except if $r_i = n$ and $q_j = m$ for certain *i* and *j*, in which case, it is equal to $\beta_x(a_i)$. On the other hand, the right term of the equality,

$$\beta_{\left(\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}\bowtie\underline{r}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}\sigma\cdot x\right), \underline{q}\bowtie\underline{r}}(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_s),$$

is 0 unless $\underline{q} \triangleright \underline{r}$ contains a single non-zero integers. But this happens if and only if both \underline{r} and \underline{q} contain a single non-zero integer, namely, if there is an i and a j such that $r_i = n$ and $q_j = m$, and if so, $\mathfrak{S}_{q \triangleright \underline{r}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}$ is trivial, so this term is also equal to $\beta_x(a_i)$.

To prove relation ($\beta 8$), note that the left term in the equality,

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\beta_{x_1,\underline{q}_1}(b_1),\ldots,\beta_{x_s,\underline{q}_s}(b_s)),$$

Is 0 unless $r_i = n$, $q_{i,j} = m_i$, and in this case, this term is equal to $\beta_x(\beta_{x_i}(b_{i,j}))$. On the other hand, the right term in the equality,

$$\beta_{\sum_{\tau} \tau \cdot x\left(x_1^{\times r_1}, \dots, x_s^{\times r_s}\right)\right), \underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_i)_{i \in [s]}}(b),$$

Is equal to 0 unless $\underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_i)_{i \in [s]}$ has a single non-zero integer. But again, this happens if and only if there exists an *i* such that $r_i = n$, a *j* such that $q_{i,j} = m_i$, and in this case, $\underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_i)_{i \in [s]} = (nm_i), \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}} \diamond (q_i)_{i \in [s]} / (\prod_{i=1}^s \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}_i}) = \mathfrak{S}_{nm_i} / \mathfrak{S}_n \wr \mathfrak{S}_{m_i}$, and so, this term is equal to

$$\beta_{\sum_{\tau} \tau x(x_i,\dots,x_i)}(b_{i,j})$$

where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{nm_i}/\mathfrak{S}_n \wr \mathfrak{S}_{m_i}$ in the sum.

We have left to prove that

$$\beta_x(\beta_{x_i}(b_{i,j})) = \beta_{\sum_{\tau} \tau x(x_i,\dots,x_i)}(b_{i,j}),$$

where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{nm_i}/\mathfrak{S}_n \wr \mathfrak{S}_{m_i}$ in the sum, but that is exactly relation (Ab β 8).

Proposition 4.3. Let M be an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra over a field \mathbb{F} of characteristic p. Then $\beta_x(m) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$, for all $n \neq p^i$, $i \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. This is similar to the proof of 3.4. Denote by $n_0p^0 + \cdots + n_kp^k$ the mod p expansion of n. Denote by $\underline{Q} = (\underbrace{p^0, \ldots, p^0}_{n_0}, \ldots, \underbrace{p^k, \ldots, p^k}_{n_k})$. Denote by $y = (\prod_{j=0}^k n_j!)^{-1}$. Using Lucas's Theorem,

one has:

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{Q}}} \sigma \cdot y = \left(\prod_{j=0}^k \binom{n_j p^j}{p^j, \dots, p^j}\right) y = \left(\prod_{j=0}^k n_j!\right) y = x.$$

Either n is a power of p, or \underline{Q} has at least two non-zero integers, which, using relation (Ab β 4), implies that $\beta_x = 0$.

Corollary 4.4. Let M be an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra over a field \mathbb{F} of characteristic p. Then, the operations β_x are generated by the family of operations β_x such that $x \in \mathcal{P}(p^i)^{\mathfrak{S}_{p^i}}$.

Definition 4.5. A module over the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A is an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra M equipped with a divided power action of A on M represented by operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}} \colon A^{\times s-1} \times M \to M$ for all $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_s(n)$ such that $r_s \neq 0$, satisfying:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\beta \mathrm{AM6}) \ \ \beta_{\lambda x+y,\underline{r}} = \lambda \beta_{x,\underline{r}} + \beta_{y,\underline{r}} \ , \ \mathrm{for \ all} \ x,y \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}, \\ (\beta \mathrm{AM7}) \ \mathrm{If} \ s = 1, \ \mathrm{then} \ \beta_{x,(n)}(m) = \beta_x(m). \end{array}$

 $(\beta AM8) \text{ Let } r_1 + \dots + r_s = n, \ x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}} \text{ and for all } i \in [s], \ \text{let } q_{i,1} + \dots + q_{i,u_i} = k_i, \ x_i \in \mathcal{P}(k_i)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}_i}}.$ Let $(b_{ij})_{1 \leq j \leq u_i} \in A^{\times u_i}$ for $i \in [s-1]$ and $b_{s,1}, \dots, b_{s,u_s-1} \in A$. For all $i \in [s-1]$, denote by $b_i = (b_{i,j})_{j \in [u_i]}.$ Then:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\beta_{x_1,\underline{q}_1}(b_1),\dots,\beta_{x_{s-1},\underline{q}_{s-1}}(b_{s-1}),\beta_{x_s,\underline{q}_s}(b_{s,1},\dots,b_{s,u_s-1},m)) = \beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau \cdot x(x_1^{\tau_1},\dots,x_s^{\times \tau_s}),\underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_1,\dots,\underline{q}_s)}(b_{1,1},\dots,b_{1,u_1},\dots,b_{s,u_s-1},m),$$

where $\underline{r} \diamond (\underline{q}_i)_{i \in [s]}$ is defined in [Iko20] and where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r} \diamond \underline{q}} / \prod_{i=1}^{s} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}_i}$ in the sum.

For s > 1, the two sets of relations:

- $(\beta A1) \ \beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_i)_i,m) = \beta_{\rho^* \cdot x,\underline{r}^{\rho}}((a_{\rho^{-1}(i)})_i,m)$ for all $\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_{s-1}$, where ρ^* denotes the block permutation with blocks of size (r_i) associated to ρ .
- $(\beta A2) \ \beta_{x,(0,r_1,r_2,\dots,r_s)}(a_0,a_1,\dots,a_{s-1},m) = \beta_{x,(r_1,r_2,\dots,r_s)}(a_1,\dots,a_{s-1},m).$
- $(\beta A3) \ \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\lambda a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{s-1}, m) = \lambda^{r_1} \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, m) \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{F}.$
- $(\beta A4)$ If $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_s(n)$ and $q \in \text{Comp}_{s'}(s-1)$, then

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\underbrace{a_1,\ldots,a_1}_{q_1},\underbrace{a_2,\ldots,a_2}_{q_2},\ldots,\underbrace{a_{s-1},\ldots,a_{s-1}}_{q_{s'}},m) = \beta_{\left(\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}}\underline{q'}\succ\underline{r}'\mathfrak{S}\underline{r}\ \sigma\cdot x\right),\ \underline{q'}\succ\underline{r}}(a_1,a_2,\ldots,a_{s-1},m),$$

where
$$\underline{q}' = (\underline{q}, 0),$$

- $(\beta A5) \ \beta_{x,r}(a_0 + a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, m) = \sum_{l+l'=r_1} \beta_{x,r \circ_1(l,l')}(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, m),$
- and,
- $(\beta M3) \ \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{s-1}, \lambda m) = \lambda^{r_1} \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, m) \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{F}.$
- $(\beta M4)$ Suppose there is $q \in Comp_{s'}(r_s)$ with s' > 0, where q contains at least two non-zero integers, and there is a $y \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_1^{\times n-r_s} \times \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}}$ such that $x = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{n-r_s} \times \mathfrak{S}_{r_s}/\mathfrak{S}_1^{\times n-r_s} \times \mathfrak{S}_q} y$, then $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m)=0,$ $(\beta M5) \ \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m_1+m_2) = \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m_1) + \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m_2),$

And the two additional relations:

 $(\beta AM4)$ Let $s, s' > 0, \underline{q} \in \operatorname{Comp}_{s'}(n)$, and $\underline{r} \in \operatorname{Comp}_{s}(q)$. Let $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^{\circ}:\underline{r}}}$. Then,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{q_i} \beta_{\sum_{\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times (q_1+\cdots+q_{i-1})} \times \overline{E}_{\underline{r},k} \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times (q_{i+1}+\cdots+q_{s'})}} \rho \cdot \sigma_i^* x, \underline{q} \circ_i(q_i-k,k)}(a_1, \ldots, a_{i-1}, a_{i+1}, \ldots, a_{s'}, a_i, m) = 0,$$

where σ_i^* is the block permutation for blocks of size $q_1, q_2, \ldots, q_{s'}$ associated to the transposition of i and s' in $\mathfrak{S}_{s'}$, and where:

$$\overline{E}_{\underline{r},k} = \left\{ \rho' \in Sh(\underline{r}) : \left| \left\{ \rho'(r_1 + \dots + r_j) : j \in [s] \right\} \cap \left\{ q_i - k + 1, \dots, q_i \right\} \right| \ge 2 \right\},$$

where $Sh(\underline{r})$ is the set of (r_1, \ldots, r_s) -shuffles.

 $(\beta AM9)$ Let $r_1 + \dots + r_s = n, x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$, let $q_1 + \dots + q_u = k, y \in \mathcal{P}(k)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}}$. Let $(a_i)_{i \in [s+u]} \in A^{\times s+u}$ and $m \in M$. Denote by $z = x \left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}^{\times n-r_s}, y^{\times r_s} \right) \in \mathcal{P}(n+r_s(k-1))$ Then,

$$\sum_{t+t'=r_sq_u,t'>0} \beta_{\sum_{\tau} \tau z,\underline{r} \diamond_s(\underline{q}) \diamond_{s+u}(t,t')}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u},m) = \sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=r_s,\lambda'>0} \sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0} \beta_{\sum_{\sigma'} \sigma' z,R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u},m),$$

where, for all $l, l', \lambda, \lambda', R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'} = ((R_{ij})_{i \in [s], j \in [u_s]}, R_{s,u+1})$ is the partition of $[n + r_s(k-1)]$ into s + u + 1 parts such that $R_i = (\underline{r} \diamond_s (q)_i$ for all $i \in [s + u - 1]$, and such that:

$$R_{s+u} = \{n - r_s + k - q_u + \alpha k + \gamma, \alpha \in [\lambda], \gamma \in [q_u]\} \cup \{\lambda k + (k - q_u) + \alpha k + \gamma, \alpha \in [\lambda'], \gamma \in [l]\}.$$

$$R_{s+u+1} = \{n - r_s + \lambda k + (k - l') + \alpha k + \gamma, \alpha \in [\lambda'], \gamma \in [l']\}.$$

where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r} \diamond s \underline{q}} / \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \right) \times \mathfrak{S}_{r_s} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}$ in the sum, and where σ' ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{R_{\lambda,\lambda'}^{ll'}}/\left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1}\mathfrak{S}_{r_i}\right)\times\mathfrak{S}_{\lambda}\wr\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}\times\mathfrak{S}_{\lambda'}\wr\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^{o_u}(l,l')}$ in the sum.

Modules over a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A form a category A-Mod.

Notation 4.6. We will allow the notation:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},m,a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s) := \beta_{\sigma_i^*,\underline{r}^{\sigma_i}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s,m),$$

where $\sigma_i \in \mathfrak{S}_s$ sends *i* to the *s*-th spot and keeps all other indices in order, that is:

$$\sigma_i(j) = \begin{cases} j, & \text{if } j < i, \\ s, & \text{if } j = i, \\ j - 1, & \text{if } j > i, \end{cases}$$

and where $\sigma_i^* \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ is the block permutation with blocks of size $(r_i)_{i \in [s]}$ associated to σ_i .

Once again, we can slightly refine this characterisation if we specify the characteristic of the base field:

Proposition 4.7. Let M be an A-module over a field \mathbb{F} of characteristic p. Then the operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m)$ are generated by the operations $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m)$ where all the r_is are powers of p, and $\beta_{x,r}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m) = 0$ when r_s is not a power of p.

Proof. The proof, very similar to that of Propositions 3.4 and 4.3, is omitted.

5. Beck modules over A

This section is devoted to the notion of a Beck module over a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A. The general notion of Beck module is equivalent to the notion of abelian extensions over an object (see [Bec67], [Qui70, §2–4], [Bar96, §6], or [Fra10, §A]). The main result of this section, Theorem 5.2, is that the notion of Beck module over a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A corresponds to the notion of A-module from Definition 4.5. As a particular case of this result, we obtain Corollary 5.4, which shows that the notion of abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra from Definition 4.1 corresponds to the notion of an abelian object in the category of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras.

Remark 5.1. If $B \xrightarrow{pr} A$ and $C \xrightarrow{pr'} A$ are $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras over A, we can endow $B \times_A C$ of a structure of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra over A. The map $B \times_A C \to A$ is given by $pr \times_A pr'$, and the evaluation map $\mathcal{P} \circ (B \times_A C) \to B \times_A C$ is given by universal property of the pullback, using the two maps $\mathcal{P} \circ (B \times_A C) \to \mathcal{P} \circ B \to B$ and $\mathcal{P} \circ (B \times_A C) \to \mathcal{P} \circ C \to C$. This means that for s elements $(b_1, c_1), \ldots, (b_s, c_s) \in B \times C$ such that $pr(b_i) = pr'(c_i)$,

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((b_1,c_1),\ldots,(b_s,c_s)\right) = \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(b_1,\ldots,b_s),\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(c_1,\ldots,c_s)\right)$$

Theorem 5.2. The data of a Beck module over the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A is equivalent to the data of an A-module as in Definition 4.5.

Proof. We will define a pair of functors:

ker:
$$(\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}/A)_{\mathrm{ab}} \to A\text{-}\mathrm{Mod},$$

and

$$A \ltimes -: A \operatorname{-Mod} \to (\Gamma(\mathcal{P}) \operatorname{-Alg}/A)_{\mathrm{ab}},$$

and show that these are inverse to each other.

Let us prove that the data of a Beck module over A yields an A-module. Let $B \xrightarrow{pr} A$ be a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ algebra over A. Denote by $M := \ker(p)$. The data of a Beck module structure on B is equivalent
to the data of a map $A \xrightarrow{z} B$, and of a multiplication map $B \times_A B \xrightarrow{\mu} B$ over A, satisfying
the following conditions:

- (1) z is a map of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras over A,
- (2) μ is a map of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras over A,

- (3) μ is commutative,
- (4) z is a unit map for the multiplication μ , that is,

$$B \times_A B \stackrel{z \times_A B}{\longleftarrow} A \times_A B = B = B \times_A A \stackrel{B \times_A z}{\longrightarrow} B \times B$$

Condition (1) implies that z splits pr, so we have a split exact sequence of vector spaces:

$$\mathbf{0} \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow B \xrightarrow{pr}_{z} A \longrightarrow \mathbf{0} ,$$

which provides us with a linear isomorphism $B \cong A \oplus M$.

The fact that pr is a map of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras implies that

$$pr(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1, m_1), \dots, (a_s, m_s))) = \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(pr(a_1, m_1), \dots, pr(a_s, m_s)) = \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s),$$

so there exists a set map $\nabla_{x,r} \colon A^{\times s} \times M^{\times s} \to M$ such that:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1,m_1),\ldots,(a_s,m_s)) = \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s),\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1,\ldots,m_s)\right).$$

Note that, as a vector space, $B \times_A B \cong A \oplus M \oplus M$. One can rewrite condition (4) as the equality $\mu(a, m, 0) = \mu(a, 0, m) = (a, m)$. Since μ is linear,

$$\mu(a,m,m') = \mu\left((a,m,0) + (0,0,m')\right) = \mu(a,m,0) + \mu(0,0,m') = (a,m) + (0,m') = (a,m+m'),$$

from which the commutativity of μ is in fact necessary.

Inspecting the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra structure on $B \times_A B$ (see previous section), one has:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a_1, m_1, m_1'), \dots, (a_s, m_s, m_s')\right) = (\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s), \nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s, m_1, \dots, m_s), \\ \nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s, m_1', \dots, m_s')).$$

On the one hand, this means that:

$$\mu\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a_1,m_1,m_1'),\ldots,(a_s,m_s,m_s')\right)\right) = \mu\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s),\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1,\ldots,m_s),\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1',\ldots,m_s),\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1',\ldots,m_s)\right)$$

Which is equal to:

$$\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s),\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1,\ldots,m_s)+\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1\ldots,a_s,m_1',\ldots,m_s')\right).$$

On the other hand, since μ is a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra map, one has:

$$\mu(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1, m_1, m'_1), \dots, (a_s, m_s, m'_s))) = \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\mu(a_1, m_1, m'_1), \dots, \mu(a_s, m_s, m'_s))$$

$$= \beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1, m_1 + m'_1), \dots, (a_s, m_s + m'_s))$$

$$= (\beta_{x,\underline{r}}, \nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s, m_1 + m'_1, \dots, m_s + m'_s)),$$

And hence,

$$\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1+m'_1,\ldots,m_s+m'_s) = \nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1,\ldots,m_s) + \nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m'_1,\ldots,m'_s).$$

This implies that

$$\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,m_1,\ldots,m_s) = \sum_{i=0}^s \nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s,0,\ldots,0,m_i,0,\ldots,0),$$
(E1)

and that

$$\nabla_{x,r}(a_1,\dots,a_s,0,\dots,0) = 0,$$
 (E2)

which is also a consequence of condition (1). From relation (β 3), we also obtain:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1,m_1),\ldots,(a_{i-1},m_{i-1}),0,(a_{i+1},m_{i+1}),\ldots,(a_s,m_s))=0,$$

for all i such that $r_i > 0$, which also implies:

$$\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},0,a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s,m_1,\ldots,m_{i-1},0,m_{i+1},\ldots,m_s) = 0$$
(E3)

Using the decomposition (a, m) = (a, 0) + (0, m) and the relation $(\beta 5)$, one then gets:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a_1,m_1),\ldots,(a_s,m_s)\right) = \sum_{(l_i+l'_i=r_i)_i} \beta_{x,(l_1,l'_1,l_2,\ldots,l_s,l'_s)}\left((a_1,0),(0,m_1),(a_2,0)\ldots,(a_s,0),(0,m_s)\right).$$

Using relations $(\beta 3)$ and $(\beta 2)$, we then get:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1, m_1), \dots, (a_s, m_s)) = (\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s), 0) + \sum_{(l_i+l'_i=r_i, l'_i>0)_i} \left(0, \nabla_{x,(l_1,l'_1, l_2, \dots, l_s, l'_s)}(a_1, 0, a_2, 0, \dots, a_s, 0, 0, m_1, 0, m_2, \dots, 0, m_s)\right),$$

which, using (E1) is equal to:

$$(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s),0) + \sum_{(l_i+l'_i=r_i,l'_i>0)_i} \sum_{j=1}^s \left(0, \nabla_{x,(l_1,l'_1,l_2,\ldots,l_s,l'_s)}(a_1,0,a_2,0,\ldots,a_s,0,0,0,\ldots,0,\underbrace{m_j}_{(2s+2j)},0,\ldots,0)\right).$$

Using (E3), this is equal to:

$$(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s),0) + \sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{l+l'=r_j,l'>0} (0,\nabla_{x,\underline{r}\circ_j(l,l')}(a_1,\ldots,a_j,0,a_{j+1},\ldots,a_s,0,\ldots,0,\underbrace{m_j}_{(s+j+2)},0,\ldots,0)).$$

For all j, denote by $\sigma_j \in \mathfrak{S}_s$ the permutation that moves j to the last spot and keeps all the other numbers in order, and denote by $\sigma_j^* \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ the block permutation of the blocks of size $(r_i)_i$ associated to σ_j . Using (β 1), one can see that

$$\nabla_{x,\underline{r}^{o_{j}}(l,l')}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{j},0,a_{j+1},\ldots,a_{s},0,\ldots,0,\underbrace{m_{j}}_{(s+j+2)}\text{th}},0,\ldots,0) = \nabla_{\sigma_{j}^{*}x,\underline{r}^{\sigma_{j}}\circ_{s}(l,l')}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{j-1},a_{j+1},\ldots,a_{s},a_{j},0,\ldots,0,\underbrace{m_{j}}_{(2s+2)}\text{th}}).$$

For all $y \in \mathcal{P}(k)$, $b_1, \ldots, b_{s-1} \in A$, $m \in M$ and $q_1 + \cdots + q_s = k$ such that $q_s > 0$, we set:

$$\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{s-1},m) := \nabla_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{s-1},0,\ldots,0,\underbrace{m}_{(2q)}\mathbf{h}). \tag{*}$$

From what precedes, we finally get the explicit $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra structure on $A \oplus M$ by:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1, m_1), \dots, (a_s, m_s)) = (\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s), 0) + \sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{l+l'=r_j, l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{\sigma_j^* x, (\underline{r}^{\sigma_j}) \circ_s(l,l')}(a_1, \dots, a_{j-1}, a_{j+1}, \dots, a_s, a_j, m_j) \right). \quad (**)$$

We claim that M is an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra as defined in 4.1 and that the assignment (*) endows M with an A-module structure as defined in 4.5.

M is an abelian algebra: Suppose \underline{r} has at least two non-zero integers. For the sake of clarity we will assume that s = 2. Then we want to prove that $\beta_{x,(r_1,r_2)}(m_1,m_2) = 0$. In $B = A \oplus M$, this can be rewritten $\beta_{x,(r_1,r_2)}((0,m_1),(0,m_2))$, and we know that:

$$\begin{split} \beta_{x,(r_1,r_2)}\left((0,m_1),(0,m_2)\right) &= (0,\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(0,0,m_1,m_2)) \\ &= (0,\nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(0,0,m_1,0) + \nabla_{x,\underline{r}}(0,0,0,m_2)) = 0, \end{split}$$

using (E1) and (E3).

M is an A-module: Using the assignment (*), note that

$$\beta_{y,\underline{q}}((b_1,0),\ldots,(b_{s-1},0),(0,m)) = \left(0,\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{s-1},m)\right).$$

Then, the relations we have to verify for this assignment to equip M with an A-module structure all are implied by the relations (β 1) to (β 8) in B.

Only relations (β AM4) and (β AM9) are not completely straightforward. Suppose all other relations are proven.

Let us show that relation (β AM4) is satisfied. Using relation (β 1), it suffices to show (β AM4) for i = s' Let $s, s' > 0, \underline{q} \in \text{Comp}_{s'}(n)$, and $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_{s}(q_{s'})$. Let $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^{\circ}s'\underline{r}}}$. We want to show:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{q_{s'}} \beta_{\sum_{\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times (n-q_{s'})} \times \overline{E}_{\underline{r},k}} \rho x, \underline{q} \circ_{s'}(q_{s'}-k,k)}(a_1, \dots, a_{s'}, m) = 0.$$

On one hand, using the assignment (**), we have:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}((a_1,0),\ldots,(a_{s'-1},0),\underbrace{(a_{s'},m),\ldots,(a_{s'},m)}_{s}) = \left(\beta_{x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s'-1},\underbrace{a_{s'},\ldots,a_{s'}}_{s}),0\right) + \sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{l+l'=r_j,l'>0} \left(0,\beta_{\tau_j^*x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}}(\underline{r}^{\tau_j})\circ_{s(l,l')}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s'-1},\underbrace{a_{s'},\ldots,a_{s'}}_{s},m)\right),$$

where $\tau_j^* \in \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times (n-q_{s'})} \times \mathfrak{S}_{q_{s'}}$ denotes the block permutation for blocks of size (r_1, \ldots, r_s) associated with the transposition of j and s in \mathfrak{S}_s . Using relations ($\beta 4$) on A, ($\beta A4$) on M, and re-indexing $k = l', l = r_j - k$ we then get:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}((a_{1},0),\ldots,(a_{s'-1},0),\underbrace{(a_{s'},m),\ldots,(a_{s'},m)}_{s}) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\rho\in\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}}\sigma x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{s'-1},a_{s'}),0\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{s}\sum_{k=1}^{r_{j}}\left(0,\beta_{\sum_{\mathfrak{S}_{(\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r})}\circ_{s'+j-1}(r_{j}-k,k)}}\rho\tau_{j}^{*}x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}(q_{s'}-k,k)}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{s'},m)\right).$$
 (5.eq.1)

On the other hand, using relation $(\beta 4)$ in B, we get:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}((a_1,0),\ldots,(a_{s'-1},0),\underbrace{(a_{s'},m),\ldots,(a_{s'},m)}_{s}) = \beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}\underline{q}}/\mathfrak{S}\underline{q}\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}\sigma x,\underline{q}}((a_1,0),\ldots,(a_{s'-1},0),(a_{s'},m)).$$

Then, the assignment ****** gives:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'\underline{r}}}((a_1,0),\ldots,(a_{s'-1},0),\underbrace{(a_{s'},m),\ldots,(a_{s'},m)}_{s}) = (\beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}\underline{q}}/\mathfrak{S}\underline{q}\circ_{s'\underline{r}}}\sigma x,\underline{q}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s'}),0) + \sum_{s}^{q_j}(0,\beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}\underline{q}}/\mathfrak{S}\underline{q}\circ_{s'\underline{r}}}\sigma x,\underline{q}\circ_{s'}(q_{s'}-k,k)(a_1,\ldots,a_{s'},m)). \quad (5.eq.2)$$

Subtracting equation 5.eq.2 from equation 5.eq.1, and projecting onto M, we get:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sum_{k=1}^{q_j} \beta_{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^\circ_{s'}\underline{r}}} \sigma x, \underline{q}^\circ_{s'}(q_{s'}-k,k)}(a_1, \dots, a_{s'}, m) \end{pmatrix} - \\ \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{k=1}^{r_j} \beta_{\sum_{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^\circ_{s'}\underline{r}} \circ s'+j-1}(r_j-k,k)} \rho \tau_j^* x, \underline{q}^\circ_{s'}(q_{s'}-k,k)(a_1, \dots, a_{s'}, m) \end{pmatrix} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Observe that a set of representative for $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}\circ_{s'\underline{r}}}$ is given by $\mathfrak{S}_1^{\times n-q_{s'}} \times Sh(\underline{r})$, and, if $k \leq r_j$ a set of representative for $\mathfrak{S}_{q\circ_{s'}(q_{s'}-k,k)}/\mathfrak{S}_{(q\circ_{s'\underline{r}})\circ_{s'+j-1}(r_j-k,k))}$ is given by:

$$\mathfrak{S}_1^{\times n-q_{s'}} \times Sh(r_1,\ldots,r_{j-1},r_{j+1},\ldots,r_s,r_j-k) \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times k}$$

Then, observe that, for all $j \in [s]$,

$$\{ \rho \tau_j^* : \rho \in \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times n - q_{s'}} \times Sh(r_1, \dots, r_{j-1}, r_{j+1}, \dots, r_s, r_j - k) \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times k} \} = \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times n - q_{s'}} \times \{ \rho' \in Sh(\underline{r}) : \rho'(r_1 + \dots + r_j - k + 1) = q_{s'} - k + 1 \},$$

since both sets are the sets of permutations of \mathfrak{S}_n which shuffle the last blocks of size r_1, \ldots, r_s and send $n - q_{s'} + r_1 + \cdots + r_j - k + l$ on n - k + l for all $l \in [k]$. Using relation (β AM6), we then get:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{q_{s'}} \beta_{\sum_{\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times n-q_{s'}} \times \overline{F}_{\underline{r},k}}} \rho x, \underline{q} \circ_{s'} (q_{s'} - k, k)(a_1, \dots, a_{s'}, m) = 0,$$

where $\overline{F}_{\underline{r},k} = Sh(\underline{r}) \setminus \left(\coprod_{j \in [s]} \{ \rho' \in Sh(\underline{r}) : \rho'(r_1 + \dots + r_j - k + 1) = q_{s'} - k + 1 \} \right)$. Note that, if $k > r_j$, then $\{ \rho' \in Sh(\underline{r}) : \rho'(r_1 + \dots + r_j - k + 1) = q_{s'} - k + 1 \} = \emptyset$. Remains to show that $\overline{F}_{\underline{r},k} = \overline{E}_{\underline{r},k}$. But, for $\rho' \in Sh(\underline{r}), \rho'$ does not satisfy $\rho'(r_1 + \dots + r_j - k + 1) = 0$.

Remains to show that $\overline{F}_{\underline{r},k} = \overline{E}_{\underline{r},k}$. But, for $\rho' \in Sh(\underline{r})$, ρ' does not satisfy $\rho'(r_1 + \cdots + r_j - k + 1) = q_{s'} - k + 1$ for any $j \in [s]$ if and only if $(\rho')^{-1}(\{q_{s'} - k + 1, \ldots, q_{s'}\})$ intersects at least two of the blocks (r_1, \ldots, r_s) , and this happens if and only if it satisfies

$$|\{\rho'(r_1 + \dots + r_j) : j \in [s]\} \cap \{q_i - k + 1, \dots, q_i\}| \ge 2.$$

Thus, we have shown that relation $(\beta AM4)$ is satisfied.

Let us now show that relation (β AM9) is satisfied. Let $r_1 + \cdots + r_s = n$, $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$, let $q_1 + \cdots + q_u = k, y \in \mathcal{P}(k)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}}$. Let $(a_i)_{i \in [s+u]} \in A^{\times s+u}$ and $m \in M$. Denote by $z = x \left(1_{\mathcal{P}}^{\times n-r_s}, y^{\times r_s} \right) \in \mathbb{C}$

 $\mathcal{P}(n+r_s(k-1))$. On the one hand, using (**), observe that:

$$\begin{split} \beta_{x,\underline{r}} \left((a_1,0), \dots, (a_{s-1},0), \beta_{y,\underline{q}}((a_s,0), \dots, (a_{s+u-1},0), (a_{s+u},m)) \right) \\ &= \beta_{x,\underline{r}} \left((a_1,0), \dots, (a_{s-1},0), \sum_{l+l'=q_s,l'>0} (\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u-1}), \beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l')}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u},m)) \right) \\ &= \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u})), 0 \right) + \\ &\sum_{\lambda,\lambda'} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_s(\lambda,\lambda')} \left(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u}), \sum_{l+l'=q_s,l'>0} \beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l')}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u},m) \right) \right) \end{split}$$

where (λ, λ') runs over the pairs of non-negative integers satisfying $\lambda + \lambda' = r_s, \lambda' > 0$. Using relation ($\beta 8$) on A gives us:

$$(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_s,\ldots,a_{s+u})),0) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau z,\underline{r}\diamond_s(\underline{q})}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u}),0\right).$$

Using relation (β M5) and (β AM8) on M, we get

$$\sum_{\lambda,\lambda'} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_s}(\lambda,\lambda')} \left(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u}), \sum_{l+l'=q_s, l'>0} \beta_{y,\underline{q}^{\circ_u}(l,l')}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u}, m) \right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\lambda,\lambda'} \sum_{l+l'=q_s, l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{\sum_{\sigma} \sigma z, (\underline{r}^{\circ_s}(\lambda,\lambda') \diamond ((1)^{\times s-1}, \underline{q}, \underline{q}^{\circ_u}(l,l')))}(a_1, \dots, a_{s+u}, a_s, \dots, a_{s+u}, m) \right),$$

where σ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{(\underline{r}^{\circ_s}(\lambda,\lambda')\diamond_s(\underline{q}^{\circ_u}(l,l')))}/(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1}\mathfrak{S}_{r_i})\times\mathfrak{S}_{\lambda}\wr\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}\times\mathfrak{S}_{\lambda'}\wr\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^{\circ_u}(l,l')}$ in the sum. Observe the repetition of input. Using relation (β A4), and noting that:

$$\sigma'' \in \mathfrak{S}_{\underset{\lambda\lambda'}{R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}}} / \mathfrak{S}_{(\underline{r}^{\circ_{s}(\lambda,\lambda')\diamond((1)\times s-1},\underline{q},\underline{q}^{\circ_{u}(l,l')}))} \sigma'' \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{(\underline{r}^{\circ_{s}(\lambda,\lambda')\diamond_{s}}(\underline{q}^{\circ_{u}(l,l')}))} / (\prod_{i=1}^{s-1}\mathfrak{S}_{r_{i}}) \times \mathfrak{S}_{(\lambda,\lambda')} \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^{\circ_{u}(l,l')}} \sigma' z = \sum_{\sigma' \in \mathfrak{S}_{\underset{\lambda\lambda'}{R_{\lambda\lambda'}}} / (\prod_{i=1}^{s-1}\mathfrak{S}_{r_{i}}) \times \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda} \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}^{\circ_{u}(l,l')}} \sigma' z,$$

we get

$$\sum_{\lambda,\lambda'} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_s}(\lambda,\lambda')} \left(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u}), \sum_{l+l'=q_s, l'>0} \beta_{y,\underline{q}^{\circ_u}(l,l')}(a_s, \dots, a_{s+u}, m) \right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=r_s,\lambda'>0} \sum_{l+l'=q_u, l'>0} \beta_{\sum_{\sigma'} \sigma' z, R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}}(a_1, \dots, a_{s+u}, m).$$

Finally, we obtain the equality:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a_{1},0),\ldots,(a_{s-1},0),\beta_{y,\underline{q}}((a_{s},0),\ldots,(a_{s+u-1},0),(a_{s+u},m))\right) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau z,\underline{r}\diamond_{s}(\underline{q})}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{s+u}),0\right) + \sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=r_{s},\lambda'>0}\sum_{l+l'=q_{u},l'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\sigma'}\sigma' z,R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{s+u},m).$$
 (5.eq.3)

On the other hand, using relation $(\beta 8)$,

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a_1,0),\ldots,(a_{s-1},0),\beta_{y,\underline{q}}((a_s,0),\ldots,(a_{s+u-1},0),(a_{s+u},m))\right) = \beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau z,\underline{r}\diamond_s(\underline{q})}((a_1,0),\ldots,(a_{s+u-1},0),(a_{s+u},m)),$$

where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r} \diamond_s \underline{q}} / \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \right) \times \mathfrak{S}_{r_s} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}$ in the sum. Using (**), we then get:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a_1,0),\ldots,(a_{s-1},0),\beta_{y,\underline{q}}((a_s,0),\ldots,(a_{s+u-1},0),(a_{s+u},m))\right) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau z,\underline{r}\diamond_s(\underline{q})}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u}),0\right) + \sum_{t+t'=r_sq_u,t'>0} \left(0,\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau z,\underline{r}\diamond_s(\underline{q})\diamond_{s+u}(t,t')}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u},m)\right).$$
 (5.eq.4)

Comparing the equalities (5.eq.3) and (5.eq.4), and projecting in M, yields the relation (β AM9).

Assigning, to each Beck module $B \xrightarrow{p} A$, the abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra ker(p) with the above A module structure provides a functor:

ker:
$$(\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}/A)_{\mathrm{ab}} \to A\text{-}\mathrm{Mod}$$

Let us now prove that the data of an A-module yields a Beck module over A. Let M be an A-module. Consider the vector space $B := A \oplus M$, equipped with:

- (1) For all $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_s(n), x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$, an operation $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}$ defined as in (**),
- (2) A map $pr: B \to A$ given by the projection orthogonally to M,
- (3) A map $z: A \to B$ given by the natural injection,

(4) A map $\mu: B \times_A B \to A$ given by $\mu(a, m, m') = (a, m + m').$

We claim that:

- (A) The assignment (1) endows B with a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra structure,
- (B) pr is a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra map,
- (C) z and μ are maps of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras over A, and finally,
- (D) z and μ endow B with the structure of a Beck module in A.

Assuming (A), conditions (B), (C) and (D) are obvious. To prove (A) we have to check that the operations defined in (1) satisfy the conditions (β 1) to (β 8). Using the notation 4.6, we can rewrite (**) as:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}((a_1, m_1), \dots, (a_s, m_s)) = \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_s), 0\right) + \sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{l+l'=r_j, l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_j(l,l')}(a_1, \dots, a_j, m_j, a_{j+1}, \dots, a_s)\right).$$

Then, relation (β 1) is directly deduced from (β 1) on A and (β A1). Relation (β 2) is deduced using (β 2) on A and using the fact that there is no positive l, l' with l + l' = 0 such that l' > 0. Relation (β 3) is a direct consequence of (β 3) on A, (β A3) and (β M3) on M.

Let us prove relation ($\beta 4$). For clarity we can assume s' = 1. Then $q_1 = s$, and we need to prove that:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a,m),\ldots,(a,m)\right) = \beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}\sigma\cdot x,(n)}\left((a,m)\right).$$

Using (**), one has:

$$\beta_{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}} \sigma \cdot x,(n)}\left((a,m)\right) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}} \sigma x,(n)}(a),0\right) + \sum_{l+l'=n,l'>0} \left(0,\beta_{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}} \sigma x,(l,l')}(a,m)\right),$$

which, re-indexing k = l', yields

$$\left(\beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}\sigma x,(n)}(a),0\right)+\sum_{k=1}^n\left(0,\beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}\sigma x,(n-k,k)}(a,m)\right)$$

Using relation (β AM4), this becomes:

$$\left(\beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}\sigma x,(n)}(a),0\right)+\sum_{k=1}^n\left(0,\beta_{\sum_{\rho}\rho x,(n-k,k)}(a,m)\right),$$

where ρ runs over the set of shuffles $Sh(\underline{r})$ satisfying:

$$|\{\rho'(r_1 + \dots + r_j) : j \in [s]\} \cap \{q_i - k + 1, \dots, q_i\}| = 1.$$

From what precedes, this set is equal to $\coprod_{j \in [s]} \{ \rho' \in Sh(\underline{r}) : \rho'(r_1 + \cdots + r_j - k + 1) = n - k + 1 \}$, which is equal to

$$\prod_{j\in[s]} \{\rho\sigma_j^* : \rho \in Sh(r_1,\ldots,r_{j-1},r_{j+1},\ldots,r_s,r_j-k) \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times k}\}.$$

The set $Sh(r_1, \ldots, r_{j-1}, r_{j+1}, \ldots, r_s, r_j - k) \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times k}$ is empty if $k > r_j$, and otherwise, it is a set of representative for $\mathfrak{S}_{n-k} \times \mathfrak{S}_k / \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}^{\sigma_j} \circ_s(r_j - k, k)$. So, we get:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a,m),\ldots,(a,m)\right) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}\sigma x,(n)}(a),0\right) + \sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{k=1}^n \left(0,\beta_{\sum_{\rho\in\mathfrak{S}_{n-k}\times\mathfrak{S}_k/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}\sigma_j}\circ_s(r_j-k,k)}\rho\sigma_j^*x,(n-k,k)(a,m)\right).$$

Using relation $(\beta 4)$ on A and relation $(\beta A4)$ on M, we get:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a,m),\ldots,(a,m)\right) = \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a,\ldots,a),0\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{s}\sum_{k=1}^{n}\left(0,\beta_{\sigma_{j}^{*}x,\underline{r}^{\sigma}\circ_{s}(r_{j}-k,s)}(a,\ldots,a,m)\right),$$

and, using the assignment *, we finally obtain:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a,m),\ldots,(a,m)\right) = \beta_{\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n/\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}\sigma\cdot x,(n)}\left((a,m)\right)$$

Let us prove relation (β 5). For clarity, we will assume s = 2. On the one hand, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a,m) + (b,m'), (a_2,m_2)\right) &= \beta_{x,\underline{r}}\left((a+b,m+m'), (a_2,m_2)\right) \\ &= \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a+b,a_2), 0\right) + \sum_{l+l'=r_1, l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_1}(l,l')}(a+b,m+m',a_2)\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l+l'=r_2, l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_2}(l,l')}(a+b,a_2,m_2)\right), \end{aligned}$$

which, using relations (β 5) on A, (β M5) on M and (β A5) on M, is equal to:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k_1+k_2=r_1} \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_1}(k_1,k_2)}(a,b,a_2), 0 \right) \\ &+ \sum_{l+l'=r_1,l'>0} \sum_{k_1+k_2=l} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_1}(k_1,k_2,l')}(a,b,m,a_2) + \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_1}(k_1,k_2,l')}(a,b,m',a_2) \right) \\ &+ \sum_{k_1+k_2=r_1} \sum_{l+l'=r_2,l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{x,(\underline{r}^{\circ_2}(l,l'))\circ_1(k_1,k_2)}(a,b,a_2,m_2) \right). \end{split}$$

Note that the middle summand can be rewritten, changing the indices:

$$\sum_{k_1+k_2+k_3=r_1,k_3>0} \left(0, \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_1}(k_1,k_2,k_3)}(a,b,m,a_2) + \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_1}(k_1,k_2,k_3)}(a,b,m',a_2) \right)$$

On the other hand, note that the assignment (**) gives:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k_1+k_2=r_1} \beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_1(k_1,k_2)} \big((a,m), (b,m'), (a_2,m_2) \big) &= \sum_{k_1+k_2=r_1} (\beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_1(k_1,k_2)}(a,b,a_2), 0) \\ &+ \sum_{k_1+k_2=r_1} \sum_{l+l'=k_1,l'>0} \beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_1(l,l',k_2)}(a,m,b,a_2), 0) \\ &+ \sum_{k_1+k_2=r_1} \sum_{l+l'=k_2,l'>0} \beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_1(k_1,l,l')}(a,b,m',a_2), 0) \\ &+ \sum_{k_1+k_2=r_1} \sum_{l+l'=r_2,l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{x,(\underline{r}\circ_2(l,l'))\circ_1(k_1,k_2)}(a,b,a_2,m_2) \right). \end{split}$$

The sum of the second and third summand can be rewritten:

$$\sum_{k_1+k_2+k_3=r_1,k_3>0} \left(0,\beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_1(k_1,k_2,k_3)}(a,b,m,a_2)+\beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_1(k_1,k_2,k_3)}(a,b,m',a_2)\right).$$

This proves that relation $(\beta 5)$ holds.

Relation ($\beta 6$) is a consequence of relation ($\beta 6$) on A and ($\beta AM6$) on M. Relation ($\beta 7$) is a consequence of relation ($\beta 7$) on A, ($\beta AM7$) and (Ab $\beta 7$) on M.

Let us now prove relation ($\beta 8$). For clarity, we can assume that s = 1. We want to prove that:

$$\beta_{x,(n)}\left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}((a_1,m_1),\ldots,(a_u,m_u))\right) = \beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau \cdot x(y^{\times n}),(n)\diamond(\underline{q})}\left((a_1,m_1),\ldots,(a_u,m_u)\right),$$

where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{(n)\diamond(\underline{q})}/\mathfrak{S}_{(n)}\wr\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}$ in the sum. Here, $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}, \underline{q} \in \operatorname{Comp}_u(k)$, and $y \in \mathcal{P}(k)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}}$. On the one hand, using the assignment (**),

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_{x,(n)} \left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}((a_{1}, m_{1}), \dots, (a_{u}, m_{u})) \right) \\ &= \beta_{x,(n)} \left(\left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_{1}, \dots, a_{u}), 0 \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{l+l'=q_{j}, l'>0} \left(0, \beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_{j}(l,l')}(a_{1}, \dots, a_{j}, m_{j}, a_{j+1}, \dots, a_{u}) \right) \right) \\ &= \left(\beta_{x,(n)} \left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_{1}, \dots, a_{u}) \right), 0 \right) + \sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0} \left(0, \beta_{x,(\lambda+\lambda')} \left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_{1}, \dots, a_{u}), \sum_{j=1}^{u} \sum_{l+l'=q_{j}, l'>0} \beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_{j}(l,l')}(a_{1}, \dots, a_{j}, m_{j}, a_{j+1}, \dots, a_{u}) \right) \right) \end{aligned}$$

Using relation ($\beta 8$) on A and ($\beta M5$) on M, we then get,

$$\beta_{x,(n)} \left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}((a_1, m_1), \dots, (a_u, m_u)) \right) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\tau} \tau \cdot x(y^{\times n}), (n) \diamond (\underline{q})}(a_1, \dots, a_u), 0 \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{u} \sum_{\lambda + \lambda' = n, \lambda' > 0} \sum_{l+l' = q_j, l' > 0} \left(0, \beta_{x,(\lambda + \lambda')} \left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_1, \dots, a_u), \beta_{y,\underline{q} \diamond_j(l,l')}(a_1, \dots, a_j, m_j, a_{j+1}, \dots, a_u) \right) \right)$$
(5.eq.5)

On the other hand, using the assignment (**),

$$\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau \cdot x(y^{\times n}),(n)\diamond(\underline{q})}((a_{1},m_{1}),\ldots,(a_{u},m_{u})) = \left(\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau \cdot x(y^{\times n}),(n)\diamond(\underline{q})}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{u}),0\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{u}\sum_{t+t'=nq_{j},t'>0} \left(0,\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau \cdot x(y^{\times n}),((n)\diamond(\underline{q}))\diamond_{j}(t,t')}(a_{1},\ldots,a_{j},m_{j},a_{j+1},\ldots,a_{u})\right).$$
(5.eq.6)

Comparing the expressions (5.eq.5) and (5.eq.6), we then have left to prove that in M, for all $j \in [u]$,

$$\sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0}\sum_{l+l'=q_j,l'>0}\beta_{x,(\lambda+\lambda')}\left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_1,\ldots,a_u),\beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_j(l,l')}(a_1,\ldots,a_j,m_j,a_{j+1},\ldots,a_u)\right) = \sum_{t+t'=nq_j,t'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau\cdot x(y^{\times n}),((n)\circ(\underline{q}))\circ_j(t,t')}(a_1,\ldots,a_j,m_j,a_{j+1},\ldots,a_u).$$

We can, without loss of generality, suppose that j = u. Then, we are left to prove that:

$$\sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0}\sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0}\beta_{x,(\lambda+\lambda')}\left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_1,\ldots,a_u),\beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l')}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u)\right) = \sum_{t+t'=nq_u,t'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau\cdot x(y^{\times n}),((n)\diamond(\underline{q}))\circ_j(t,t')}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u).$$

Using relation (β AM8) on the left hand side of the equality gives us:

$$\sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0} \sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0} \beta_{x,(\lambda+\lambda')} \left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_1,\ldots,a_u), \beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l')}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u) \right) = \sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0} \sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0} \beta_{\sum_{\sigma} x(y^{\times n}),(\lambda,\lambda')\diamond(\underline{q},\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l'))}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u),$$

where σ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{(\lambda,\lambda')\diamond(\underline{q},\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l'))}/\mathfrak{S}_{\lambda}\wr\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}\times\mathfrak{S}_{\lambda'}\wr\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l')}$ in the sum.

Denote by $R_{\lambda,\lambda'}^{l,l'}$ the partition of kn into u+1 parts such that, for all $i \in [u-1]$, $(R_{\lambda,\lambda'}^{l,l'})_i = ((n) \diamond (\underline{q}))_i$, and such that:

$$(R^{l,l'}_{\lambda,\lambda'})_u = \{k - q_u + \alpha k + \gamma, \alpha \in [\lambda], \gamma \in [q_u]\} \cup \{\lambda k + (k - q_u) + \alpha k + \gamma, \alpha \in [\lambda'], \gamma \in [l]\}.$$
$$(R^{l,l'}_{\lambda,\lambda'})_{u+1} = \{\lambda k + (k - l') + \alpha k + \gamma, \alpha \in [\lambda'], \gamma \in [l']\}.$$

Then, using relation $(\beta A4)$, and noting that:

$$\sum_{\sigma'' \in \mathfrak{S}_{R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}} / \mathfrak{S}_{(\lambda,\lambda') \diamond (\underline{q},\underline{q} \circ u(l,l'))} \sigma} \sigma \sum_{\mathfrak{S}_{(\lambda,\lambda') \diamond (\underline{q},\underline{q} \circ u(l,l'))} / \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}} \times \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda'} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q} \circ u(l,l')} } \sigma x(y^{\times n}) = \sum_{\sigma' \in \mathfrak{S}_{R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}} / \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}} \times \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda'} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q} \circ u(l,l')} } \sigma' x(y^{\times n}),$$

we then get:

$$\sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0}\sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0}\beta_{x,(\lambda+\lambda')}\left(\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(a_1,\ldots,a_u),\beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_u(l,l')}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u)\right) = \sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0}\sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\sigma'}\sigma'x(y^{\times n}),R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u).$$

We have left to prove the equality:

$$\sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=n,\lambda'>0} \sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0} \beta_{\sum_{\sigma'}\sigma'x(y^{\times n}),R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u) = \sum_{t+t'=nq_u,t'>0} \beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau \cdot x(y^{\times n}),((n)\diamond(\underline{q}))\circ_j(t,t')}(a_1,\ldots,a_u,m_u).$$

But this is a particular case of the relation (β AM9).

Assigning to each A-module M the Beck module $A \ltimes M$ obtained by equipping the vector space $A \oplus M$ with the divided power \mathcal{P} -algebra structure given by (**) provides a functor:

$$A \ltimes -: A \operatorname{-Mod} \to (\Gamma(\mathcal{P}) \operatorname{-Alg}/A)_{\mathrm{ab}},$$

One can readily check that ker and $A \ltimes -$ are inverse to each other.

Definition 5.3. If M is an A-module, the Beck module $A \ltimes M$ defined above is called the semidirect **product** of A and M.

Let us now turn to the particular case of abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras. Abelian group objects in the category of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras are Beck modules over the terminal object. Since \mathcal{P} is reduced, this terminal object is always the zero algebra 0. Then, we obtain the following:

Corollary 5.4. Abelian group objects in $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras are equivalent to abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras from Definition 4.1, that is:

$$(\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg})_{\mathrm{ab}} \cong (\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg})_{\mathrm{Ab}}$$

Proof. Applying Theorem 5.2 in the case A = 0, the data of an abelian group object in $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras is equivalent to the data of a module over the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra 0. Such a 0-module M is an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra equipped with operations $\beta_{x,(r_1,\ldots,r_s)}(0,\ldots,0,-): M \to M$. If s > 1 and if at least one of the r_i for i < s is non-zero, then relation ($\beta A3$) implies that $\beta_{x,(r_1,\ldots,r_s)}(0,\ldots,0,m) = 0$ for all M. If s > 1 and $r_i = 0$ for all i < s, relation ($\beta A2$) shows that $\beta_{x,(r_1,\ldots,r_s)}(0,\ldots,0,m) = \beta_{x,(r_s)}(m)$. Finally, when s = 1, relation (β AM7) shows that $\beta_{x,(r_s)}(m) = \beta_x(m)$ is provided by the structure of abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra on M. Thus, a 0-module is an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra equipped with additionnal operations which are all trivial.

6. Universal enveloping algebra

The objective of this section is to show that the category of modules over the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A is equivalent to the category of left modules over an associative algebra $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$. This result, is contained in Proposition 6.9. In practice, it will be useful to see $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ as the algebra containing all the operations $\beta_x(-)$ in the definition of an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra (see Definition 4.1), and all the operations $\beta_{x,r}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)$ in the definition of an A-module (see Definition 4.5). Here, the hyphen "-" is considered as a placeholder. It is then useful to consider the multiplication μ of the algebra $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ as the composition of operations: if $O_1(-), O_2(-)$ are two operations with one placeholder symbol, then $\mu(O_1(-) \otimes O_2(-))$ represents the operation $O_1(O_2(-))$ obtained by replacing the placeholder in $O_1(-)$ by the operation $O_2(-)$.

For this section, we fix the base field \mathbb{F} of characteristic p.

Definition 6.1. Let $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ be the quotient of the \mathbb{F} -vector space spanned by the set of symbols $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)$, for all $\underline{r} = (r_1,\ldots,r_s)$, such that $r_1 + \cdots + r_s = n, x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$, and $a_1, \ldots, a_{s-1} \in A$, by the vector subspace spanned by the elements:

- (1) $\beta_{\lambda x+y,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)-(\lambda\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)+\beta_{y,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-))$ for all $x,y \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\underline{r}}$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{F},$
- (2) $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-) \beta_{\rho^*\cdot x,\underline{r}^{\rho}}(a_{\rho^{-1}(1)},\ldots,a_{\rho^{-1}(s-1)},-)$ for all $\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_{s-1}$, where ρ^* denotes the block permutation with blocks of size (r_i) associated to ρ .
- (3) $\beta_{x,(0,r_1,r_2,\ldots,r_s)}(a_0,a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)-\beta_{x,(r_1,r_2,\ldots,r_s)}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-).$
- (4) $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\lambda a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{s-1}, m) \lambda^{r_1} \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, m) \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{F}.$ (5) For all $\underline{r} \in \text{Comp}_s(n)$ and $\underline{q} \in \text{Comp}_{s'}(s-1)$, the element

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(\underbrace{a_1,\ldots,a_1}_{q_1},\underbrace{a_2,\ldots,a_2}_{q_2},\ldots,\underbrace{a_{s-1},\ldots,a_{s-1}}_{q_{s'}},-)-\beta_{\left(\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}'}\rhd\underline{r}}'\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}^{}\sigma\cdot x\right),\underline{q}'\bowtie\underline{r}}(a_1,a_2,\ldots,a_{s-1},-),$$

where $q'=(q,0),$

- (6) $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_0 + a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, -) \left(\sum_{l+l'=r_1} \beta_{x,\underline{r}^{\circ_1}(l,l')}(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, -)\right),$
- (7) $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)$ for all x such that there exists $q_1 + \cdots + q_u = r_s, y \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}^{\circ}s\underline{q}}}$, such (b) For all $r_1 + \dots + r_s = n$, $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_r}$, let $q_1 + \dots + q_u = k$, $y \in \mathcal{P}(k)^{\mathfrak{S}_q}$, $(a_i)_{i \in [s+u]} \in A^{\times s+u}$,
- the element:

$$\left(\sum_{t+t'=r_sq_u,t'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau z,\underline{r}\diamond_s(\underline{q})\diamond_{s+u}(t,t')}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u},-)\right) - \left(\sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=r_s,\lambda'>0}\sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\sigma'}\sigma' z,R^{ll'}_{\lambda\lambda'}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u},-)\right),$$

where $z = x \left(1_{\mathcal{P}}^{\times n-r_s}, y^{\times r_s} \right) \in \mathcal{P}(n+r_s(k-1)), R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}$ is defined in 4.5, where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}\diamond s\underline{q}} / \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \right) \times \mathfrak{S}_{r_s} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}} \text{ in the sum, and where } \sigma' \text{ ranges over } \mathfrak{S}_{R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}} / \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \right) \times \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}} \times \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda'} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}\diamond u(l,l')} \text{ in the sum.}$

Notation 6.2. Following Notation 4.6, we will allow the notation:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},-,a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s) := \beta_{\sigma_i^*,\underline{r}^{\sigma_i}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s,-).$$

Proposition 6.3. The vector space $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ is spanned by the symbols $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)$ where all the integers in \underline{r} are powers of p, and $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)=0$ in $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ if r_s is not a power of p.

Proof. This is equivalent to Proposition 4.7.

Viewing the \mathbb{F} -vector space structure of $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ as a left \mathbb{F} -action, we endow $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ with a right \mathbb{F} -action by setting, for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{F}$,

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)\cdot\lambda=\lambda^{r_s}\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-).$$

Remark 6.4. It is important here to restrict ourselves to the case where r_s is a power of p. Otherwise, the preceding definition is not linear in $\lambda \in \mathbb{F}$. This is made possible by Proposition 6.3.

We then equip $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ with a multiplication:

$$\mu: \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)_{\mathbb{F}} \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$$

by setting:

$$\mu\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)\otimes\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{u-1},-)\right) = \beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau\cdot x(1_{\mathcal{P}}^{n-r_s},y^{\times r_s}),\underline{r}\diamond_s\underline{q}_s}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},b_1,\ldots,b_{u-1},-),$$

where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r} \diamond_s \underline{q}_s} / \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \right) \times \mathfrak{S}_{r_s} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}$ in the sum, and extending μ as an \mathbb{F} -bimodule homomorphism, which is well-defined in light of the equations in Definition 6.1. Note that we used both the right and left \mathbb{F} -actions on $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$, that is: $(x \cdot \lambda) \otimes y = x \otimes (\lambda y)$ in the tensor product.

Lemma 6.5. The multiplication μ endows $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ with the structure of an associative unital ring.

Proof. Let V be the 1-dimensional \mathbb{F} -vector space spanned by v. Consider the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra B obtained as a quotient of the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra $\Gamma(\mathcal{P}, A \oplus V)$ by the $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -ideal generated by the two following family of elements:

• $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},v)$ for all x such that there exists $q_1+\cdots+q_u=r_s, y\in\mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{r_1}\times\cdots\times\mathfrak{S}_{r_{s-1}}\times\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}}$ such that $x=\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_{n-r_s}\times\mathfrak{S}_{r_s}/\mathfrak{S}_{n-r_s}\times\mathfrak{S}_{q}}\sigma y$,

• For all $r_1 + \cdots + r_s = n$, $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r}}}$, let $q_1 + \cdots + q_u = k$, $y \in \mathcal{P}(k)^{\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}}$, $(a_i)_{i \in [s+u]} \in A^{\times s+u}$, the element:

$$\left(\sum_{t+t'=r_sq_u,t'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\tau}\tau z,\underline{r}\diamond_s(\underline{q})\diamond_{s+u}(t,t')}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u},v)\right) - \left(\sum_{\lambda+\lambda'=r_s,\lambda'>0}\sum_{l+l'=q_u,l'>0}\beta_{\sum_{\sigma'}\sigma' z,R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+u},v)\right),$$

where $z = x \left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{P}}^{\times n-r_s}, y^{\times r_s} \right) \in \mathcal{P}(n+r_s(k-1)), R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}$ is defined in 4.5, where τ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{\underline{r} \circ_s \underline{q}} / \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \right) \times \mathfrak{S}_{r_s} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}}$ in the sum, and where σ' ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_{R_{\lambda\lambda'}^{ll'}} / \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s-1} \mathfrak{S}_{r_i} \right) \times \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q}} \times \mathfrak{S}_{\lambda'} \wr \mathfrak{S}_{\underline{q} \circ u(l,l')}$ in the sum.

There is a linear map $f: \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \to B$ such that:

$$f(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)) = \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},v).$$

Indeed, the relations (β 1) to (β 8) on B, and quotienting by the above family of elements ensure that f is well defined. The map f is clearly injective. Note that, for all pair of elements in $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ of the type:

$$\mathfrak{t} = \lambda \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1, \dots, a_{s-1}, -), \quad \mathfrak{s} = \lambda' \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1, \dots, b_{u-1}, -),$$

One has:

$$f(\mu(\mathfrak{t}\otimes\mathfrak{s}))=\lambda\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},\lambda'\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{u-1},v))$$

So, the associativity of μ is a consequence of the associativity of the composition of operations β in B, which is guaranteed by the associativity of the monad $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$.

The element $\beta_{1_{\mathcal{P}},(1)}(-)$ is clearly a unit for μ .

Warning 6.6. The ring $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ is an \mathbb{F} -vector space but need not be an \mathbb{F} -algebra. The multiplication μ satisfies:

$$\mu \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-) \otimes \left(\lambda \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{u-1},-) \right) \right)$$

$$= \mu \left(\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-) \cdot \lambda \right) \otimes \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{u-1},-) \right)$$

$$= \mu \left(\left(\lambda^{r_s}\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-) \right) \otimes \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{u-1},-) \right)$$

$$= \lambda^{r_s} \mu \left(\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-) \right) \otimes \beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_{u-1},-) \right)$$

We will see a concrete example with the enveloping algebra $V(A) = \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(A)$ in Section 9. In the special case $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{F}_p$, the equality $\lambda^{r_s} = \lambda$ holds (since r_s is a power of p), and thus $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ is an \mathbb{F} -algebra.

Notation 6.7. We will allow the notation:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{j-1},-,a_{j+1},\ldots,a_s):=\beta_{\sigma_j x,\underline{r}}\sigma_j^*(a_1,\ldots,a_{j-1},a_{j+1},\ldots,a_s,-)\in\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A).$$

Definition 6.8. Denote by $\mathbb{U}_{Ab}(\Gamma(\mathcal{P})) \subset \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ the vector subspace spanned by the elements $\beta_{x,(n)}(-)$. Note that $\mathbb{U}_{Ab}(\Gamma(\mathcal{P}))$ is a unital associative subring and does not depend on A.

Note that any abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra M can be equipped with a left $\mathbb{U}_{Ab}(\Gamma(\mathcal{P}))$ action by:

$$\beta_{x,(n)} \otimes m \mapsto \beta_x(m),$$

and conversely, any left $\mathbb{U}_{Ab}(\Gamma(\mathcal{P}))$ -module M has a structure of abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra given by:

$$\beta_x(m) := \beta_{x,(n)}(-) \cdot m.$$

Since those assignments are inverse to one another, we obtain:

Proposition 6.9. The category of abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra is equivalent to the category of left modules over $\mathbb{U}_{Ab}(\Gamma(\mathcal{P}))$.

We also obtain the straightforward corollary:

Corollary 6.10. Let V be an \mathbb{F} -vector space. Then, $\mathbb{U}_{Ab}(\Gamma(\mathcal{P})) \otimes V$ is the free abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra generated by V.

Similarly, any A-module M can be equipped with a left $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ action by:

 $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)\otimes m\mapsto \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m),$

and conversely, any left $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ -module M has an A-module structure given by:

 $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},m) := \beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-) \cdot m.$

Once again, those assignments are inverse to one another, and we obtain:

Theorem 6.11. The category of A-modules is equivalent to the category of left modules over $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$.

As a straightforward corollary, we also obtain:

Corollary 6.12. Let V be an \mathbb{F} -vector space. Then, $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes V$ is the free A-module generated by V.

From what precedes, we also obtain:

Corollary 6.13. Let M be an abelian $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra. Then, $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{Ab(\Gamma(\mathcal{P}))}} M$ is the free A-module generated by M.

The sequence of morphisms $\mathbb{F} \to \mathbb{U}_{Ab(\Gamma(\mathcal{P}))} \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ then yields a commutative diagram of free/forgetful adjunctions:



where the right adjoints are usual restriction of scalars.

Recall from [LV12, §12.3.4] the description for the enveloping algebra $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}(A)$ associated to a \mathcal{P} -algebra (without divided powers) A. It has a set of generators denoted by $\nu(a_1, \ldots, a_k; 1)$ in [LV12], for all $\nu \in \mathcal{P}(k+1), a_1, \ldots, a_k \in A$. Note that the norm map induces a monad morphism $\operatorname{Tr}: S(\mathcal{P}) \to \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ (see [Fre00, §1.1.14]). This map has been translated in terms of divided power operations by the third author in [Iko23, Remark 6.3]. In consequence, we get the following:

Proposition 6.14. For all $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A, the norm map induces a natural \mathbb{F} -linear ring homomorphism $\theta \colon \mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}(A) \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$, sending $\nu(a_1, \ldots, a_k; 1) \in \mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}(A)$ to $\beta_{\nu,(1,\ldots,1)}(a_1, \ldots, a_k, -) \in \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$.

Note that here, in the expression $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}(A)$, we have dropped the forgetful functor $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg $\rightarrow \mathcal{P}$ -Alg which is induced by the norm map as well.

7. Derivations, Module of Kähler differentials

One of the key notions in the construction of André–Quillen cohomology is the abelianization functor, which is obtained as a left adjoint of the forgetful functor from the category of Beck Amodules to the slice category over A which "forgets" the abelian group structure (see [Qui67, §2.5], [Fra10]). In order to build and study such an abelianization functor, one needs to study morphisms of Beck modules. In the usual algebraic case, these morphisms are naturally identified with a certain set of algebraic derivations (see [Fra10, Bec67]). This justifies the terminology of Beck derivations for the maps $B \to M$ which are obtained by composing a morphism $B \to A \ltimes M$ of Beck modules with the projection onto M. In the case of algebras over an operad, Beck derivations correspond again to a natural notion of algebraic derivations (see [GH00, Proposition 2.2]). In these examples, the set of derivations is then represented by a module $\Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(A)$ called the module of Kähler differentials of A (see [LV12, §12.3.8]). In this section, we identify the set of Beck derivations over a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra, as well as an analogue of the A-module of Kähler differentials in the divided power setting.

Definition 7.1. Let M be an A-module, and $B \xrightarrow{pr} A$ be a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra over A. A **Beck derivation**, or simply **derivation** from B to M is a linear map $d: B \to M$ such that $pr + d: B \to A \ltimes M$ is a morphism of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra. We denote by $\text{Der}_A(B, M)$ the vector space of derivations from B to M. We obtain a bifunctor

$$\operatorname{Der}_A \colon (\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\operatorname{-Alg}/A)^{\operatorname{op}} \times A\operatorname{-Mod} \to \operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}^3}$$

Proposition 7.2. A Beck derivation $d: B \to M$ is a linear map such that:

$$d(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(b_1,\ldots,b_s)) = \sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{l+l'=r_j,l'>0} \beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_j(l,l')}(pr(b_1),\ldots,pr(b_j),d(b_j),pr(b_{j+1}),\ldots,pr(b_s)).$$

Proof. The map pr + d is a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra if and only if:

$$(pr+d)(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(b_1,\ldots,b_s)) = \beta_{x,\underline{r}}((pr(b_1),d(b_1)),\ldots,(pr(b_s),d(b_s))) \\ = \left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(pr(b_1),\ldots,pr(b_s)),\sum_{j=1}^s\sum_{l,l'}\beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_j(l,l')}(pr(b_1),\ldots,pr(b_j),d(b_j),pr(b_{j+1}),\ldots,pr(b_s)).\right),$$

where l, l' runs over the pairs of non-negative integers such that $l + l' = r_j$ and l' > 0, hence the result.

Definition 7.3. For any $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A, denote by dA the underlying vector space of A. Elements of dA are denoted by da for $a \in A$.

The module of Kähler differentials of A is the following coequalizer in the category of A-modules:

$$\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes \Gamma(\mathcal{P}, A) \xrightarrow{\gamma} \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes dA \longrightarrow \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) ,$$

where $\gamma \colon \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes \Gamma(\mathcal{P}, A) \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes dA$ is given by:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)\otimes\lambda\beta_{y,\underline{q}}(b_1,\ldots,b_u)\mapsto$$
$$\lambda^{r_s}\sum_{j=1}^u\sum_{l+l'=q_j,l'>0}\mu\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{s-1},-)\otimes\beta_{y,\underline{q}\circ_j(l,l')}(b_1,\ldots,b_j,-,b_{j+1},\ldots,b_u)\right)\otimes db_j,$$

and where $ev_A \colon \Gamma(\mathcal{P}, A) \to A$ is the structural $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra evaluation map of A.

Let us describe $\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ in more detail. For an element of the type $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{a-1},-) \otimes da \in \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes dA$, we will denote by $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{a-1},da)$ its image in $\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$. Following Notation 4.6, we will allow the notation:

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},da,a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s) := \beta_{\sigma_i^*,\underline{r}}\sigma_i(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s,da).$$

Then, by definition, $\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ is an A-module generated by the elements $\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{a-1},da)$ under certain relations, including the following:

$$d\left(\beta_{x,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_s)\right) = \sum_{i=1}^s \sum_{l+l'=r_i,l'>0} \beta_{x,\underline{r}\circ_i(l,l')}(a_1,\ldots,a_{j-1},a_j,da_j,a_{j+1},\ldots,a_s).$$
(7.eq.1)

Definition 7.4. The universal derivation of A is the linear map $d: A \to \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ induced by the identity map $A \to dA$.

As a consequence of the relation (7.eq.1), we deduce:

Proposition 7.5. The universal derivation $d: A \to \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ is a Beck derivation.

The following result justifies the term "universal" derivation, and completes the analogy with the classical module of Kähler differentials [LV12, 12.3.19]:

Proposition 7.6. $\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ represents the functor Der(A, -): A-Mod \rightarrow Ab sending M to the abelian group of derivations from A to M.

Proof. We have to show that for all A-module M, there is a linear bijection, natural in M:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{A\operatorname{-Mod}}(\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A), M) \cong \operatorname{Der}_A(A, M).$$

Let $f: \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \to M$ be an A-module morphism. Consider the linear map $D: A \to M$ given by $D = f \circ d$, where $d: A \to \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ is the universal derivation. Since the universal derivation is a derivation, and since f is an A-module morphism, D is a derivation. The assignment $f \mapsto D$ yields a linear map $\phi: \operatorname{Hom}_{A-\operatorname{Mod}}(\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A), M) \to \operatorname{Der}_A(A, M)$, natural in M.

Reciprocally, let $D: A \to M$ be a derivation. We can consider D as a linear map $dA \to M$. This extends uniquely into an A-module morphism $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes dA \to M$. The fact that D is a derivation ensures that this passes to the coequalizer into an A-module morphism $f: \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \to M$. This assignment $D \mapsto f$ yields a linear map $\psi: \operatorname{Der}_A(A, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{A-\operatorname{Mod}}(\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A), M)$. It is easy to check that ϕ and ψ are mutually inverse and natural in M.

To conclude this section, let us link this new notion of Kähler differentials for a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra to the usual notion of Kähler differentials for a \mathcal{P} -algebra. Recall that $U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \colon \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg $\to \mathcal{P}$ -Alg denotes the forgetful functor from $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras to \mathcal{P} -algebras. Then, if A is a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra, $\Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(A) := \Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A))$ is the usual $U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ -module of Kähler differentials of the \mathcal{P} -algebra $U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$, as in [LV12, 12.3.8].

Proposition 7.7. The map $\theta \otimes dA \colon \mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}(A) \otimes dA \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes dA$, where θ is defined in Proposition 6.14, induces a map $\theta \colon \Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(A) \to \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ given by

 $\nu(a_1,\ldots,da_i,\ldots,a_s)\mapsto\beta_{\nu,(1,\ldots,1)}(a_1,\ldots,da_i,\ldots,a_s).$

We leave to the reader to check that the given map passes to the coequalizers.

8. QUILLEN COHOMOLOGY

We now have all the ingredients to describe Quillen (co)homology of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras, as listed in Section 2.

Lemma 8.1. Let $f: B \to A$ be a morphism of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras. Via the equivalence from Theorem 5.2, the pushforward along f is given by $f_!(M) = \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(B)} M$.

Proof. The universal enveloping algebra $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}$ provides a functor $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg \rightarrow As₊-Alg to unital rings. The ring homomorphism $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(f) \colon \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(B) \rightarrow \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ makes $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$ into a right $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(B)$ -module. Via the equivalence from Theorem 6.11, the pushforward adjunction

$$B\operatorname{-Mod} \xrightarrow{f_!}_{\checkmark f^*} A\operatorname{-Mod}$$

corresponds to the classical restriction/extension of scalars along $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(f)$.

Theorem 8.2. Let A be a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra.

(1) The following two functors form an adjoint pair:

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}/A \xrightarrow[A \ltimes -]{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(-)} \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(-)}}{A \times -} A\text{-}\mathrm{Mod}.$$

(2) The adjunction simplicially prolongs to a Quillen pair.

Proof. (1) Via the equivalences from Theorem 5.2 and Theorem 6.11, the statement follows from combining Proposition 7.6, Lemma 8.1, and Lemma 2.4.

(2) Via the equivalence from Theorem 6.11, the right adjoint $A \ltimes -$ is the forgetful functor

$$(\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}/A)_{\mathrm{ab}} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}/A.$$

The claim then follows from [Fra15, Proposition 3.40].

9. Example: The operad Com

In this section, we apply our general construction for Beck modules, universal enveloping algebra, Beck derivations and Kähler differentials for divided power algebras over the operad Com of associative, commutative (non-unital) algebra. We check that these correspond to the construction obtained by the first author in [Dok09, Dok23].

For readability, we will divide this section into two subsections. In the first one, we recall the definition for classical divided power algebras. We refer the reader to [Car56, Rob65] and [Ber74, §I] for more details. We then review the characterisation of Beck modules, universal enveloping algebra, Beck derivations and Kähler differentials for these objects obtained by the first author [Dok09, Dok23].

In the second subsection, we show how these characterisations correspond to those given in this article for a general operad \mathcal{P} , once we set $\mathcal{P} = \text{Com}$.

9.1. Classical definition and state of the art

Definition 9.1. Let (A, I) be a commutative ring together with an ideal $I \subset A$. A system of divided powers on I is a collection of maps $\gamma_i \colon I \to A$, where $i \ge 0$, such that the following identities hold:

$$\gamma_0(a) = 1, \tag{9.eq.1}$$

$$\gamma_1(a) = a, \gamma_i(a) \in I, \ i \ge 1, \tag{9.eq.2}$$

$$\gamma_i(a+b) = \sum_{k=0}^{k=i} \gamma_k(a) \gamma_{i-k}(b), \ a, b \in I, \ i \ge 0,$$
(9.eq.3)

$$\gamma_i(ab) = a^i \gamma_i(b), \ a \in A, \ i \ge 0, \tag{9.eq.4}$$

$$\gamma_i(a)\gamma_j(a) = \frac{(i+j)!}{i!j!}\gamma_{i+j}(a), \ a \in I, \ i,j \ge 0,$$
(9.eq.5)

$$\gamma_i(\gamma_j(a)) = \frac{(ij)!}{i!(j!)^i} \gamma_{ij}(a), \ a \in I, \ i \ge 0, \ j \ge 1.$$
(9.eq.6)

We say that (I, γ) is a **PD ideal** of A. We call **divided power ring** the data of a triple (A, I, γ) where A is a ring, and (I, γ) is a PD ideal. A morphism of divided power rings

$$f: (A, I, \gamma) \to (B, J, \delta)$$

is a ring homomorphism $f: A \to A'$ such that $f(I) \subset J$ and such that $f(\gamma_i(a)) = \delta_i(f(a))$ for all $i \geq 0$ and $a \in I$.

Note that the identities (9.eq.2) and (9.eq.5) imply that $a^n = n!\gamma_n(a)$, where $n \in \mathbf{N}$ and $a \in I$. In particular, in a divided power ring of characteristic $0, \gamma_n(a) = \frac{a^n}{n!}$ for all $a \in I$. This justifies the name "divided powers". In prime characteristic p, one has $a^p = 0$, for all $a \in I$.

Notation 9.2. Given an augmented \mathbb{F} -algebra A with augmentation $\epsilon \colon A \to \mathbb{F}$, denote the augmentation kernel by $A_+ = \ker(A \to \mathbb{F})$.

Given a non-unital \mathbb{F} -algebra B, denote by $B^+ = \mathbb{F} \oplus B$ the augmented algebra obtained by formally adjoining a unit.

We follow the notation $A_+ = \ker(A \to \mathbb{F})$ used in [Sou87] and [Dok09], though some authors use a different notation, notably \overline{A} in [LV12, §1.1].

We now fix a field \mathbb{F} of prime characteristic $p \neq 0$. We restrict to the case of divided power rings (A, I, γ) such that A is an augmented \mathbb{F} -algebra $A = \mathbb{F} \oplus A_+$, and $I = A_+$. In this setting, Soublin showed that the divided power structure is entirely determined by a map π playing the role of γ_p :

Proposition 9.3 ([Sou87]). The category of divided power augmented \mathbb{F} -algebras (A, A_+, γ) is equivalent to the category p-Com with objects the pairs (A, π) , where A is an augmented algebra with augmentation ideal A_+ , and where $\pi: A_+ \to A_+$ is a set map satisfying:

$$a^p = 0, \ a \in A_+,$$
 (9.eq.7)

$$\pi(a+b) = \pi(a) + \pi(b) + \sum_{k=1}^{k=p-1} \frac{(-1)^k}{k} a^k b^{p-k}, \ a, b \in A_+,$$
(9.eq.8)

$$\pi(ab) = 0, \ a, b \in A_+, \tag{9.eq.9}$$

$$\pi(\lambda a) = \lambda^p \pi(a), \ a \in A_+, \lambda \in \mathbb{F}, \tag{9.eq.10}$$

and where morphisms $\alpha \colon (A, \pi) \to (A', \pi')$ are homomorphism of augmented algebras $\alpha \colon A \to A'$ such that $\alpha \circ \pi = \pi' \circ \alpha$.

BECK MODULES

Fix a divided power augmented \mathbb{F} -algebra A, or equivalently, an object (A, π) of the category p-Com defined above. Then, the first author obtained the following characterisation for Beck A-modules:

Theorem 9.4 ([Dok09]). The category of Beck A-modules is equivalent to the category \mathcal{M} whose objects are pairs (M, π) where M is a A-module and $\pi: M \to M$ is a p-semilinear map such that $\pi(am) = 0$ for all $a \in A_+$ and $m \in M$ and whose morphisms $(M, \pi) \to (M', \pi')$ are A-module homomorphisms $\alpha: M \to M'$ such that $\pi' \circ \alpha = \alpha \circ \pi$.

ENVELOPING ALGEBRA

Let us now build the universal enveloping algebra of A, which is the representing object for the category of Beck A-modules. Let R_f be the polynomial ring consisting of the set of polynomials $\sum_{i=0}^{i=m} \lambda_i f^i$ where $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{F}$, f is an indeterminate and $f\lambda = \lambda^p f$.

We define the ring V(A) as the ring whose underlying \mathbb{F} -vector space is the tensor product $V(A) := A \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} R_f$ and the multiplication is given by:

$$(a \otimes 1)(a' \otimes 1) = (aa' \otimes 1), \quad a, a' \in A,$$

$$(1 \otimes q)(1 \otimes q') = (1 \otimes qq'), \quad q, q' \in R_f,$$

$$(a \otimes 1)(1 \otimes f) = (a \otimes f), \quad a \in A,$$

$$(1 \otimes f)(a \otimes 1) = 0, \quad a \in A_+,$$

$$(1 \otimes f)(\lambda \otimes 1) = (\lambda^p \otimes f), \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{F}.$$

Then, the first author obtained the following:

Theorem 9.5 ([Dok09]). The category of Beck A-modules is equivalent to the category of left V(A)-modules.

BECK DERIVATIONS

Let $A' \in p$ -Com/A be a divided powers algebra over A and (M, π) a Beck A-module. The first author obtained the following:

Proposition 9.6 ([Dok09]). The abelian group of Beck derivations of A' into M is given by

$$\operatorname{Der}_p(A', (M, \pi)) = \{ d \in \operatorname{Der}(A', M) | d(\pi(a)) = \pi(d(a)) - a^{p-1}d(a), a \in A'_+ \}.$$

Kähler differentials

We then get the following characterisation for the module of Kähler differentials:

Theorem 9.7 ([Dok09]). The module of Kähler differentials for the augmented divided power \mathbb{F} algebra A is the V(A)-module $\Omega_{p-Com}(B)$ with the following presentation: the generators are the symbols da for $a \in A$, and the relations are

$$d(\lambda a + \mu b) = \lambda da + \mu db, \qquad (9.eq.11)$$

$$d(ab) = adb + bda, \tag{9.eq.12}$$

$$d(\pi(c)) = f dc - c^{p-1} dc, \qquad (9.eq.13)$$

where $a, b \in A$, $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{F}$, and $c \in A_+$.

9.2. Operadic point of view

Let us now show how we recover these notions from Sections5, 6 and 7. Recall that the operad Com of non-unital commutative algebras is defined as a symmetric sequence by

$$\operatorname{Com}(n) = \begin{cases} T_n, & \text{if } n > 0, \\ \mathbf{0}, & \text{if } n = 0, \end{cases}$$

where T_n denotes the trivial representation of dimension 1 generated by an element we denote by X_n , and with partial compositions given by $X_n \circ_i X_k = X_{n+k-1}$. We get the following:

Theorem 9.8 ([Fre00]). A $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebra is a (non-unital) associative, commutative algebra B equipped, for all i > 0, with a set map $\gamma_i \colon B \to B$ satisfying the relations (9.eq.2) to (9.eq.6) from Definition 9.1.

Note that there is a slight abuse of notation here: relation (9.eq.3) should be replaced by:

$$\gamma_i(a+b) = \gamma_i(a) + \gamma_i(b) + \sum_{k=1}^{k=i-1} \gamma_k(a)\gamma_{i-k}(b).$$

The category of $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebras is then equivalent to the category of divided power augmented \mathbb{F} -algebras. Indeed, if B is a $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebra, then $B^+ = \mathbb{F} \oplus B$ is equipped with a unique structure of divided power augmented \mathbb{F} -algebra (B^+, B, δ) such that $\delta_i(b) = \gamma_i(b)$ for all i > 0 and $b \in B$. Conversely, if (A, A_+, γ) is an augmented divided power \mathbb{F} -algebra, then, the collection of maps γ_i for i > 0 equips A_+ with a structure of $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebra as above. Following Soublin's theorem, a $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebra is equivalently characterised as a (non-unital) associative, commutative algebra B equipped with a map $\pi \colon B \to B$ satisfying relations (9.eq.7) to (9.eq.10) of Proposition 9.3.

Let us now use the characterisation of $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebra from Theorem 3.3. Following [Iko20], if *B* is a $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebra, its multiplication is given by $\beta_{X_2,(1,1)}$, and π , which represents the divided power operation γ_p , is given by $\beta_{X_p,(p)}$.

Abelian Algebras, Beck modules

Following Definition 4.1, an abelian $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -algebra M is a vector space M endowed with a trivial multiplication mm' = 0 and a semilinear map $\pi \colon M \to M$ satisfying $\pi(\lambda m) = \lambda^p \pi(m)$.

Following Definition 4.5, a *B*-module *M* becomes a module *M* over the commutative algebra *B*, endowed with a trivial multiplication, and a semilinear map $\pi: M \to M$ satisfying $\pi(\lambda m) = \lambda^p \pi(m)$ and such that $\pi(bm) = 0$. This last property comes from relation (β AM8), noticing that $|\mathfrak{S}_{(p)\diamond(1,1)}/\mathfrak{S}_p \wr (\mathfrak{S}_{(1,1)})| = p!$, and using (β AM6):

$$\begin{aligned} \pi(bm) &= \beta_{X_p,(p)}(\beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(b,m)), \\ &= \beta_{p!X_{2p},(p,p)}(b,m), \\ &= p!\beta_{X_{2p},(p,p)}(b,m) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

ENVELOPING ALGEBRA

From Definition 6.1 the universal enveloping algebra $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ is spanned by symbols

 $\beta_{X_n,r}(b_1, \dots, b_{s-1}, -)$ with $r_1 + \dots + r_s = n$.

We can reduce this generating family: using the relations of Definition 6.1, and the same reasoning as in [Iko20, §3.3] and [Sou87], $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ is spanned by symbols $\beta_{X_1,(1)}(-)$ (the unit), $\beta_{X_2,(2)}(b,-)$ for $b \in B$, and $\beta_{X_p,(p)}(-)$.

We can then show that there is an isomorphism between $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ and $V(B^+)$, where V(B) was defined in Section 9.1. This isomorphism sends $\beta_{X_1,(1)}(-)$ to $1 \otimes 1$, $\beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(b,-) \in \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ to $b \otimes 1$, and $\beta_{X_p,(p)}(-) \in \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ to $1 \otimes f$.

Note that B injects into $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$, by identifying $b \in B$ to $\beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(b,-)$. For a B-module (i.e., a $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ -module) M, we will denote by $bm := \beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(b,m) = \beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(b,-) \cdot m$, and $\pi(m) := \beta_{X_p,(p)}(m)$, for $b \in B$, $m \in M$.

BECK DERIVATIONS

Following Proposition 7.2, a Beck derivation $d: B \to M$ is a linear map $d: B \to M$ satisfying d(ab) = adb + bda and

$$d(\pi(b)) = \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{X_p, (p-i,i)}(b, d(b))$$

Note that, for all i such that $2 \le i \le p - 1$,

$$X_p = \frac{1}{i!} i! X_p = \frac{1}{i!} \sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times i}} \tau X_p,$$

and so,

$$\begin{split} \beta_{X_p,(p-i,i)}(b,db) &= \beta_{\frac{1}{i!}\sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times i} \tau X_p,(p-i,i)}(b,db) \\ &= \frac{1}{i!} \beta_{\sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times i} \tau X_p,(p-i,i)}(b,db), \end{split}$$

and according to relation (β M4), $\beta_{\sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times i} \tau X_p, (p-i,i)}(b, db) = 0$. So,

$$d(\pi(b)) = \beta_{X_p,(p-1,1)}(b,db) + \beta_{X_p,(0,p)}(b,db),$$

= $\beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(\beta_{X_{p-1},(p-1)}(b),db) + \beta_{X_p,(p)}(db),$
= $\frac{b^{p-1}}{(p-1)!}db + \pi(db).$

Finally, since in characteristic p, (p-1)! = -1 (see Wilson's Theorem [DF04, §13.5 Exercise 6]), one has:

$$d(\pi(b)) = \pi(d(b)) - b^{p-1}d(b).$$

We recover the characterisation of Beck derivations given in [Dok09].

KÄHLER DIFFERENTIALS

Following Definition 7.3, the module of Kähler differentials $\Omega_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ of B is the $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ module generated by elements db for $b \in B$, linear in b, under the relations:

$$d(ab) = d(\beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(a,b)) = \beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(-,b) \otimes da + \beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(a,-) \otimes db = bda + adb$$
$$d(\pi(b)) = d(\beta_{X_p,(p)}(b)) = \sum_{i=1}^p \beta_{X_p,(p-i,i)}(b,-) \otimes db.$$

For this last relation, note that the term corresponding to i = 1 is:

$$\beta_{X_p,(p-1,1)}(b,-) \otimes b = \beta_{X_2,(1,1)}(\beta_{X_{p-1},(p-1)}(b),-) \otimes db = \frac{1}{(p-1)!}b^{p-1}db = -b^{p-1}db.$$

the term corresponding to i = p is

$$\beta_{X_p,(0,p)}(b,-)\otimes b=\beta_{X_p,(p)}(-)\otimes db=\pi(db).$$

For all $i \in \{2, \ldots, p-1\}$, we have again $X_p = i\frac{1}{i}X_p = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_{1} \times \mathfrak{S}_{i-1}} \frac{1}{i}X_p$. So, $\beta_{X_p,(p-i,i)}(b,-) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_{1} \times \mathfrak{S}_{i-1}} \frac{1}{i}X_p$ is one of the elements described in Definition 6.1 in point (7), and so, is equal to 0 in $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$. Finally, this last relation reads:

$$d(\pi(b)) = \pi(db) - b^{p-1}db.$$

We can show that this module of Kähler differentials $\Omega_{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(B)$ is isomorphic to the module of Kähler differentials $\Omega_{p-\text{Com}}(B^+)$ of the augmented divided power \mathbb{F} -algebra B^+ . This isomorphism is transparent on elements db, adb, and sends $\pi(db)$ to $f \cdot db$.

10. Example: The operad Lie

In this section, we apply our general construction for Beck modules, universal enveloping algebra, Beck derivations and Kähler differentials for divided power algebras over the operad Lie of Lie algebra. We check that these correspond to the construction obtained by the first author in [Dok04]. For readability, we will divide this section into two subsections: in the first one, we recall the definition for restricted Lie algebras. We refer the reader to [Jac62] for more details. We then review the characterisation of Beck modules, Beck derivations for these objects obtained by the first author [Dok04].

In the second subsection, we show how these characterisations correspond to those given in this article for a general operad \mathcal{P} , once we set $\mathcal{P} = \text{Lie}$.

10.1. Classical definition and state of the art

We suppose that \mathbb{F} is a field of prime characteristic $p \neq 0$.

Definition 10.1 ([Jac62, §V.7]). A restricted Lie algebra $L = (L, (-)^{[p]})$ over \mathbb{F} is a Lie algebra over \mathbb{F} together with a map $(-)^{[p]}: L \to L$ called the *p*-map such that the following relations hold

$$(\alpha l)^{[p]} = \alpha^p \ l^{[p]} \tag{10.eq.1}$$

$$[l, l'^{[p]}] = [\cdots [l, \underbrace{l'], l'], \cdots, l'}_{p}]$$
(10.eq.2)

$$(l+l')^{[p]} = l^{[p]} + {l'}^{[p]} + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} s_i(l,l')$$
(10.eq.3)

where $is_i(l, l')$ is the coefficient of λ^{i-1} in $ad_{\lambda l+l'}^{p-1}(l)$. Here, $ad_l: L \to L$ denotes the adjoint representation given by $ad_l(l') := [l', l], l, l' \in L, \alpha \in \mathbb{F}$. A Lie algebra homomorphism $f: L \to L'$ is called **restricted** if $f(l^{[p]}) = f(l)^{[p]}$. We denote by RLie the category of restricted Lie algebras over \mathbb{F} .

Example 10.2. Let A be any associative algebra over a field \mathbb{F} . We denote by A_{Lie} the induced Lie algebra with the bracket given by [l, l'] := ll' - l'l, for all $l, l' \in A$. Then $(A_{\text{Lie}}, (-)^{[p]})$ is a restricted Lie algebra where $(-)^{[p]}$ is the *p*-th power $l \mapsto l^p$. Thus, there is a functor

$$(-)_{\text{RLie}}$$
: As \rightarrow RLie

from the category of associative algebras to the category of restricted Lie algebras.

Example 10.3. Let G be an algebraic group over \mathbb{F} . The associated Lie algebra Lie(G) of G is endowed with the structure of restricted Lie algebra [Bor91, §I.3] [Wat79, §12.1].

BECK MODULES

Let L be a Lie algebra over \mathbb{F} . A Lie module over L is a \mathbb{F} -vector space M equipped with a \mathbb{F} -bilinear map $L \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} M \to M$: $l \otimes m \mapsto lm$ such that

$$[l, l']m = l(l'm) - l'(lm)$$
, for all $l, l' \in L$ and $m \in M$.

Definition 10.4. Let *L* be a restricted Lie algebra over \mathbb{F} . A Lie *L*-module *M* is called **restricted** if $l^{[p]}m = (\underbrace{l(\cdots (l(l \ m) \cdots))}_{l \ m})$.

Let M be a restricted L-module. We denote by M^L , the following L-submodule of M:

$$M^L = \{ m \in M : lm = 0 \text{ for all } l \in L \}.$$

The first author obtained the following characterisation for Beck L-modules.

Theorem 10.5 ([Dok04]). The category of Beck L-modules is equivalent to the category \mathcal{M} whose objects are pairs (M, f) where M is a restricted L-module and $f: M \to M^L$ is a p-semilinear map from M into its submodule of invariants M^L and whose morphisms $(M_1, f_1) \to (M_2, f_2)$ are L homomorphisms $\alpha: M_1 \to M_2$ such that $f_2 \circ \alpha = \alpha \circ f_1$.

When no confusion arises, we will always denote by $f: M \to M$ the *p*-semilinear map of a Beck *L*-module *M*.

Enveloping Algebra

Let us now build the universal enveloping algebra of L, which is the representing object for the category of Beck *L*-modules. Let $L \in \text{RLie}$ be a restricted Lie algebra and U(L) its usual enveloping algebra [Jac62, §V.1]. We first recall the construction of the restricted enveloping algebra u(L) which is a representing object for restricted *L*-modules.

Definition 10.6. We denote by u(L) the quotient of the algebra U(L) by the relations $l^p - l^{[p]}$ for $l \in L$, which we call the **restricted enveloping algebra** of L.

This construction provides a functor $u: \text{RLie} \to \text{As}$.

Theorem 10.7 ([Jac62, \S V.7]). The category of restricted L-modules is equivalent to the category of u(L)-modules.

Following N. Jacobson (see [Jac62, $\S V.2$]), the functor u is part of an adjunction

$$u \colon \operatorname{RLie} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{As} \colon (-)_{\operatorname{RLie}}$$

Following [Dok04], denote by w(L) the \mathbb{F} -vector space $R_f \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} u(L)$, where R_f is the polynomial ring on one indeterminate f as in Section 9. Then, w(L) equipped with a ring structure such that $R_f \to w(L)$ and $u(L) \to w(L)$ are ring homomorphisms, and such that:

$$(f\otimes 1)(1\otimes l):=f\otimes l \quad ext{and} \quad (1\otimes l)(f\otimes 1):=0$$

for all $l \in L$. The first author obtained the following characterization of Beck modules, which yields $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L) = w(L)$.

Theorem 10.8 ([Dok04]). The category of Beck L-modules is equivalent to the category of left w(L)-modules.

Lemma 10.9. The ring homomorphism $\theta : \mathbb{U}_{\text{Lie}}(L) \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ from Proposition 6.14 is the composite

$$U(L) \twoheadrightarrow u(L) \to w(L)$$

where $U(L) \rightarrow u(L)$ is the quotient map and $u(L) \rightarrow w(L)$ is the ring homomorphism $x \mapsto 1 \otimes x$.

BECK DERIVATIONS

Let M be a Lie L-module, a **derivation** of L into M is a \mathbb{F} -linear map $D: L \to M$ such that the Leibniz formula holds

$$D([l, l']) = lD(l') - l'D(l)$$

for all $l, l' \in L$. The set of such derivations is denoted by Der(L, M). Let $L' \in RLie/L$ be a restricted Lie algebra over L, and (M, f) a Beck L-module. Then, the first author obtained the following

Proposition 10.10 ([Dok04]). The abelian group of Beck derivations of L' into M is given by:

$$Der_p(L', (M, f)) := \{ d \in Der(L', M) : d(l^{[p]}) = \underbrace{l \cdots l}_{p-1} dl + f(d(l)), \ l \in L' \}$$

KÄHLER DIFFERENTIALS

What we call the module of Kähler differentials of the Lie algebra L is, by analogy with the case of commutative algebras, the *L*-Beck module $\Omega_{\text{RLie}}(L)$ which represents the functor of Beck derivations. It follows from Theorem 10.8, Proposition 10.10 and [Par68, Lemma 2.1] that the module $\Omega_{\text{RLie}}(L)$ of Kähler differentials is nothing else than the w(L)-module C(L) considered by Pareigis in [Par68], cf. [Dok04, §1.3].

Theorem 10.11 ([Par68]). The module of Kähler differentials $\Omega_{\text{RLie}}(L)$ for the restricted Lie algebra L is the w(L)-module with the following presentation: the generators are the symbols dl for $l \in L$, and the relations are:

$$d(\lambda l + \mu l') = \lambda dl + \mu dl', \qquad (10.\text{eq.4})$$

$$d\left(\left[l,l'\right]\right) = ldl' - l'dl,\tag{10.eq.5}$$

$$d(l^{[p]}) = f(dl) + l^{p-1}dl.$$
 (10.eq.6)

10.2. Operadic point of view

Let us now show how we recover these notions from Sections 5, 6 and 7. Recall that Lie is the operad generated by a binary operation $[-, -] \in \text{Lie}(2)$ satisfying $(12) \cdot [-, -] = -[-, -]$ and the Jacobi relation:

$$[-,-]\circ_{2}[-,-]+(1\ 2\ 3)\cdot([-,-]\circ_{2}[-,-])+(1\ 3\ 2)\cdot([-,-]\circ_{2}[-,-])=0$$

We fix a field \mathbb{F} of prime characteristic $p \neq 0$.

Theorem 10.12 ([Fre00]). The category Γ (Lie)-Alg coincides with the category RLie of restricted Lie algebras.

We now use the characterisation of Γ (Lie)-algebras using Theorem 3.3. Following [Iko23, Example 6.6.c)], if L is a Γ (Lie)-algebra, the Lie bracket on L is given by $\beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}$, and the p-map is given by $\beta_{F_p,(p)}$, where $F_p \in \text{Lie}(p)^{\mathfrak{S}_p}$ is the element:

$$\sum_{\sigma} \underbrace{[-,-] \circ_1 [-,-] \circ_1 \cdots \circ_1 [-,-]}_{p-1} \cdot \sigma,$$

where the sum runs over the $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_p$ such that $\sigma(1) = 1$. Note that relation (10.eq.2) then reads:

$$\beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(\beta_{1_{\mathcal{P}},(1)},\beta_{F,(p)}) = \beta_{\sum_{\sigma} \sigma[-,-]\circ_1 \cdots \circ_1[-,-],(1,p)},$$
(10.eq.1)

where σ ranges over $\mathfrak{S}_1 \times \mathfrak{S}_p$ in the sum, which can also be written $\beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(\beta_{1_{\mathcal{P}},(1)},\beta_{F,(p)}) = \beta_{F_{p+1},(1,p)}$.

Abelian Algebras, Beck modules

Following Definition 4.1, an abelian $\Gamma(\text{Lie})$ -algebra M is a vector space M endowed with a trivial Lie bracket [m, m'] = 0 and a semilinear map $f: M \to M$ satisfying $f(\lambda m) = \lambda^p f(m)$.

Following Definition 4.5, an *L*-module *M* becomes a vector space *M* equipped with a semilinear map $f: M \to M$ and an action of *L* that we denote [l, m] for $l \in L$, $m \in M$ such that [l, f(m)] = 0. This last relation comes from the following computation:

$$\begin{split} [l,m^{[p]}] &= \beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(l,\beta_{F,(p)}(m)), \\ &= \beta_{\sum_{\sigma} \sigma[-,-]\circ_1 \cdots \circ_1[-,-],(1,p)}(l,m) \end{split}$$

Here we used the relation (10.eq.1). Now, using relation (β M4) of Definition 4.5, this is equal to 0.

ENVELOPING ALGEBRA

Using the same reasoning as in [Fre00, Theorem 1.2.5], and the relations of Definition 6.1, we can show that the universal enveloping algebra $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ is generated by symbols $\beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(l,-)$ for $l \in L$, $\beta_{F_{p},(p)}(-)$, and a unit $\beta_{1_{\text{Lie}},(1)}(-)$. We can then build an isomorphism between $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ and the universal enveloping algebra w(L) defined in Section 10.1. This isomorphism sends $\beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(l,-) \in \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ to $1 \otimes l$, and $\beta_{F_{p},(p)}(-) \in \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ to $f \otimes 1$.

Note that L injects into $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$, by identifying $l \in L$ to $\beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(l,-)$. For an L-module (i.e., a $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ -module) M, we will denote by $[l,m] := \beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(l,m) = \beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(l,-) \cdot m$, and $f(m) := \beta_{F_p,(p)}(m) = \beta_{F_p,(p)}(-) \cdot m$ for $l \in L, m \in M$.

BECK DERIVATIONS

Following Proposition 7.2, a Beck derivation $d: L \to M$ is a linear map $d: L \to M$ satisfying $d([l, l']) = \beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(l, dl') + \beta_{[-,-],(1,1)}(dl, l') = [l, dl'] - [l', dl]$, and

$$d\left(l^{[p]}\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \beta_{F_p,(p-i,i)}(l,dl).$$

Note that, since $F_p \in Lie(p)^{\mathfrak{S}_p}$, for all *i* such that $2 \leq i \leq p-1$,

$$F_p = \frac{1}{i!} i! F_p = \frac{1}{i!} \sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\times i}} \tau F_p,$$

and so,

$$\begin{split} \beta_{F_p,(p-i,i)}(l,dl) &= \beta_{\frac{1}{i!}\sum_{\tau\in\mathfrak{S}_{p-i}\times\mathfrak{S}_i/\mathfrak{S}_{p-i}\times\mathfrak{S}_1^{\times i}}\tau F_p,(p-i,i)}(l,dl) \\ &= \frac{1}{i!}\beta_{\sum_{\tau\in\mathfrak{S}_{p-i}\times\mathfrak{S}_i/\mathfrak{S}_{p-i}\times\mathfrak{S}_1^{\times i}}\tau F_p,(p-i,i)}(l,dl), \end{split}$$

and according to relation (β M4), $\beta_{\sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_1^{\prime} \tau F_p, (p-i,i)}(l, dl) = 0.$

KÄHLER DIFFERENTIALS

Following Definition 7.3, the module of Kähler differentials $\Omega_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ of L is the $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ -module generated by elements dl, $l \in L$, under the relations:

$$\begin{aligned} d(\lambda l + \mu l') &= \lambda dl + \mu dl', \\ d([l, l']) &= d(\beta_{[-, -], (1, 1)}(l, l')) = \beta_{[-, -], (1, 1)}(-, l') \otimes dl + \beta_{[-, -], (1, 1)}(l, -) \otimes dl' = [l, dl'] - [l', dl], \\ d(f(l)) &= d(\beta_{F_p, (p)}(l)) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \beta_{F_p, (p-i, i)}(b, -) \otimes db. \end{aligned}$$

To compute the term corresponding to i = 1, note that, by [Fre00, Remark 1.2.8], $\beta_{F_p,(p-1,1)}(l, -) \cdot dl = \beta_{F_p,(p-1,1)}(l, dl) = [l, \dots, [l, dl] \dots$]. the term corresponding to i = p is $\beta_{F_p,(0,p)}(l, -) \otimes l = \beta_{F_p,(p)}(-) \otimes dl = fdl.$

For all $i \in \{2, \ldots, p-1\}$, note that again, $F_p = i\frac{1}{i}F_p = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_{i-1}} \frac{1}{i}F_p$. So, $\beta_{F_p,(p-i,i)}(l,-) = \beta_{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_i / \mathfrak{S}_{p-i} \times \mathfrak{S}_{i-1}} \frac{1}{i}F_p,(p-i,i)}(l,-)$ is one of the elements described in Definition 6.1 in point (7), and so, is equal to 0 in $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$. Finally, this last relation reads:

$$d(fl) = f(dl) + [\underbrace{l, \dots [l, dl]}_{p-1} \dots].$$

Finally, $\Omega_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ is indeed isomorphic to the module $\Omega_{\text{RLie}}(L)$ defined in Section 10.1.

11. Comparisons

In this section, we identity some adjunctions involving $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras and check that they induce comparisons on Quillen cohomology. The next sections will focus on examples.

Lemma 11.1. Let C be a cocomplete closed symmetric monoidal category and \mathcal{P} an operad in C.

- (1) The free \mathcal{P} -algebra monad $S(\mathcal{P}): \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$ preserves reflexive coequalizers and filtered colimits.
- (2) The forgetful functor $U_{\mathcal{C}}^{\mathcal{P}} \colon \mathcal{P}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg} \to \mathcal{C}$ creates reflexive coequalizers and filtered colimits.

Proof. The first part is proved for instance in [Rez96, Proposition 2.3.5]. The second part follows from the first part and [Bor94, Proposition 4.3.2]. \Box

Lemma 11.2. The forgetful functor $U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \colon \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg $\to \mathcal{P}$ -Alg preserves and reflects regular epimorphisms.

Proof. Both categories are monadic over $Vect_{\mathbb{F}}$, as illustrated in the diagram of forgetful functors



A regular epimorphism $q: X \to Y$ is the coequalizer of its kernel pair $X \times_Y X \rightrightarrows X$, which is a reflexive pair, with common section the diagonal $X \to X \times_Y X$. By Lemma 11.1, the functor $U_{\mathbb{F}}^{\mathcal{P}}$ preserves and reflects reflexive coequalizers, hence also regular epimorphisms.

In Vect_F, all regular epimorphisms (namely the surjective maps) split, assuming the axiom of choice. Thus any functor $\operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}} \to \operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}}$ preserves regular epimorphisms, and the functor $U_{\mathbb{F}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}$ preserves and reflects regular epimorphisms, by [Bor94, Theorem 4.3.5].

Remark 11.3. Working over a more general base commutative ring k instead of a field \mathbb{F} , the endofunctor $\Gamma(\mathcal{P}): \operatorname{Mod}_k \to \operatorname{Mod}_k$ need not preserve regular epimorphisms.

For example, take $k = \mathbb{Z}$ and the operad \mathcal{P} in $Mod_{\mathbb{Z}}$ = Ab generated by one binary operation $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(2)$ subject to the relation $\mu \cdot (12) = -\mu$. Then \mathcal{P} is a reduced operad with $\mathcal{P}(2) = \mathbb{Z}_{\sigma}$, which denotes \mathbb{Z} with Σ_2 -action by the sign. Consider the quotient map of abelian groups $q: \mathbb{Z} \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/2$. We compute the Σ_2 -fixed points

$$(\mathcal{P}(2) \otimes \mathbb{Z}^{\otimes 2})^{\Sigma_2} \cong (\mathbb{Z}_{\sigma} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{\mathrm{triv}})^{\Sigma_2} = 0$$

$$(\mathcal{P}(2) \otimes (\mathbb{Z}/2)^{\otimes 2})^{\Sigma_2} \cong ((\mathbb{Z}/2)_{\sigma})^{\Sigma_2} = \mathbb{Z}/2.$$

Thus the degree 2 summand of the map of abelian groups

 $\Gamma(\mathcal{P},q)\colon \Gamma(\mathcal{P},\mathbb{Z})\to \Gamma(\mathcal{P},\mathbb{Z}/2)$

is the map $0 \to \mathbb{Z}/2$, which is not surjective.

Since $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg and \mathcal{P} -Alg are algebraic categories, Lemma 11.2 ensures that the adjunction

$$F_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \colon \mathcal{P}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg} \rightleftharpoons \Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\mathrm{Alg} \colon U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}$$
(11.eq.1)

gives rise to the comparison diagrams described in [Fra15, Theorem 4.7].

Another source of comparisons will be given by morphisms of operads, as we now describe.

Lemma 11.4. Let $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{Q}$ be a morphism between reduced operads in $\operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}}$. Consider the diagram of four adjunctions

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \mathcal{P}\text{-Alg} & \xrightarrow{f_!} \mathcal{Q}\text{-Alg} \\ & \xrightarrow{f^*} \mathcal{Q}\text{-Alg} \\ F_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} & \downarrow & F_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{Q})} & \downarrow & U_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{Q})} \\ & & f_! & & \\ & & \Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-Alg} & \xrightarrow{f_!} & \Gamma(\mathcal{Q})\text{-Alg.} \end{array}$$

- (1) The right adjoints commute, and therefore the left adjoints commute (up to natural isomorphism).
- (2) Both restriction functors f^* preserves and reflect regular epimorphisms.

Proof. (1) Via the explicit description of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras in Theorem 3.3, the restriction functor $f^* \colon \Gamma(\mathcal{Q})$ -Alg $\to \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg can be described as follows. Consider a $\Gamma(\mathcal{Q})$ -algebra A with operations $\beta_{y,\underline{r}} \colon A^{\times s} \to A$, given for all $\underline{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_s)$ and $y \in \mathcal{Q}(n)^{\underline{\Sigma}_{\underline{r}}}$ with $n = r_1 + \cdots + r_s$. Its restriction f^*A has the same underlying \mathbb{F} -vector space A, with $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra structure given by the operations

$$\beta_{x,\underline{r}} = \beta_{f(x),\underline{r}}$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{P}(n)^{\Sigma_{\underline{r}}}$ and \underline{r} as above. Note that the map on the arity n parts $f \colon \mathcal{P}(n) \to \mathcal{Q}(n)$ is Σ_n -equivariant, hence restricts to fixed point subspaces $f \colon \mathcal{P}(n)^{\Sigma_{\underline{r}}} \to \mathcal{Q}(n)^{\Sigma_{\underline{r}}}$.

(2) As observed in the proof of Lemma 11.2, in all four categories, regular epimorphisms are preserved and reflected by the forgetful functor to $Vect_{\mathbb{F}}$. More concretely, they are the morphisms whose underlying map of vector spaces is surjective.

Next, we want to compare Quillen cohomology of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras and \mathcal{P} -algebras. Start with a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A and consider its underlying \mathcal{P} -algebra $U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A$, also denoted A when the context indicates the category. The diagram of adjunctions in [Fra15, §4.2.2] specializes to

$$\mathcal{P}\text{-}\operatorname{Alg}/A \xrightarrow[]{U_A} (\mathcal{P}\text{-}\operatorname{Alg}/A)_{ab}$$

$$\epsilon_{A!}F_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \bigvee_{\mathcal{P}} \bigcup_{Ab_A} \epsilon_{A\#}\tilde{F}_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \bigvee_{\mathcal{P}} \bigcup_{Ab_A} U_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}$$

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\operatorname{Alg}/A \xrightarrow[]{U_A} (\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\operatorname{Alg}/A)_{ab}.$$

Using the identification of Beck modules and Kähler differentials in [LV12, Propositions 12.3.8 and 12.3.13] for the top row and Theorem 6.11 and Proposition 7.6 for the bottom row, the diagram becomes

$$\mathcal{P}\text{-}\operatorname{Alg}/A \xrightarrow{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}(-)}\Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(-)} \mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A\text{-}\operatorname{Mod}$$
(11.eq.2)
$$\epsilon_{A!}F_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \bigvee_{\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{P}}(\mathcal{P})A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{P})}(-)}\Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(-)} \theta_{!} \bigvee_{\theta^{*}} \theta^{*}$$

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{P})\text{-}\operatorname{Alg}/A \xrightarrow{A \ltimes -} \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A\text{-}\operatorname{Mod}.$$

Here $\theta: \mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A$ is the \mathbb{F} -linear ring homomorphism described in Proposition 6.14, θ^* denotes restriction of scalars along θ , and $\theta_!$ denotes extension of scalars $\theta_!(M) = \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A} M$. Applying [Fra15, Propositions 4.13 and 4.14] yields the following.

Proposition 11.5. Let A be a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra.

(1) There is a natural (up to homotopy) comparison of cotangent complexes

$$\mathbf{L}_{A}^{\mathcal{P}} \to \theta^{*} \mathbf{L}_{A}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \tag{11.eq.3}$$

in simplicial $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A$ -modules.

(2) For each degree $n \ge 0$, there is a natural comparison map of $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A$ -modules

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{n}^{\mathcal{P}}(A) \to \theta^{*}\operatorname{HQ}_{n}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$$

from Quillen homology of A as a \mathcal{P} -algebra to Quillen homology of A as a $\Gamma(P)$ -algebra.

(3) For M a left $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A$ -module, there is a natural comparison map of abelian groups

$$\mathrm{HQ}^{n}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A;M) \to \mathrm{HQ}^{n}_{\mathcal{P}}(A;\theta^{*}M)$$
(11.eq.4)

from Quillen cohomology of A as a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra to Quillen cohomology of A as a \mathcal{P} -algebra. (4) If the map of simplicial $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A$ -modules

$$\theta_! \mathbf{L}_A^{\mathcal{P}} \to \mathbf{L}_A^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}$$

adjunct to the map (11.eq.3) is a weak equivalence, then the comparison in Quillen cohomology (11.eq.4) is an isomorphism in all degrees n.

We can describe the comparison map of cotangent complexes (11.eq.3) more explicitly.

Proposition 11.6. (1) For any $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra A, there is a natural map of $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A$ -modules

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(A) \to \theta^* \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(A)$$

given by

$$\mu(a_1,\ldots,da_i,\ldots,a_n)\mapsto\beta_{\mu(1,\ldots,1)}(a_1,\ldots,da_i,\ldots,a_n)$$

for $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, $a_j \in A$. (2) More generally, for any morphism of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras $g: B \to A$, there is a natural map of $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A$ -modules

given by

$$\mu(a_1,\ldots,db_i,\ldots,a_n)\mapsto\beta_{\mu(1,\ldots,1)}(a_1,\ldots,db_i,\ldots,a_n)$$

for $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, $a_j \in A \ (j \neq i)$, and $b_i \in B$.

(3) Given a cofibrant replacement $C_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\sim} A$ in simplicial $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras, the comparison maps (11.eq.5) for $C_n \to A$ in simplicial degree $n \ge 0$ yield the comparison map of cotangent complexes $\mathbf{L}_A^{\mathcal{P}} \to \theta^* \mathbf{L}_A^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}$ from (11.eq.3).

Proof. First, we show that the underlying vector space of $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B} \Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(B)$ is spanned by the elements of the form $\mu(a_1, \ldots, db_i, \ldots, a_n)$. The tensor product $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B} \Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(B)$ is spanned by elements of the type:

$$\mu(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},-,a_{i+1}\ldots,a_n)\otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B}\nu(b_1,\ldots,db_j,\ldots,b_k),$$

With $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, $\nu \in \mathcal{P}(k)$, $a_u \in A$ and $b_v \in B$. However, noting that this element is equal to:

$$\mu(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},-,a_{i+1}\ldots,a_n)\otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B}\nu(b_1,\ldots,b_{j-1},-,b_{j+1},\ldots,b_k)\cdot db_j$$

tensoring over $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B$ means that this element is identified with:

$$\mu(a_1, \dots, a_{i-1}, -, a_{i+1}, \dots, a_n) \cdot \nu(g(b_1), \dots, g(b_{j-1}), -, g(b_{j+1}), \dots, g(b_k)) \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B} db_j$$

which is equal to:

$$\mu \circ_i \nu(a_1, \dots, a_{i-1}, g(b_1), \dots, g(b_{j-1}), -, g(b_{j+1}), \dots, g(b_k), a_{i+1} \dots, a_n) \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B} db_j.$$

We now see that $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B} \Omega_{\mathcal{P}}(B)$ is spanned by elements of the form:

$$\mu(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},-,a_{i+1}\ldots,a_n)\otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}B}db_i,$$

Similarly, one shows that $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}B} \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}(B)$ is spanned by elements of the type:

$$\beta_{\mu,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,a_{i-1},-,a_{i+1},\ldots,a_s)\otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}B} db_i,$$

which we denote by $\beta_{\mu,\underline{r}}(a_1,\ldots,db_i,\ldots,a_s)$. The expression of the comparison map is then induced by that of the norm map θ from Proposition 6.14.

Here the left adjoint induced on Beck modules $\theta_! \colon \mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{P}}A$ -Mod $\to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}A$ -Mod is described in terms of the ring homomorphism θ , but one might hope to describe it in terms of the original left adjoint $F_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})} \colon \mathcal{P}$ -Alg $\to \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -Alg. However, the left adjoint $F_{\mathcal{P}}^{\Gamma(\mathcal{P})}$ does *not always* pass to Beck modules in the sense of [Fra15, Definition 3.29]. For example, we will see, in the case of divided power algebras, that $F_{\text{Com}}^{\Gamma(\text{Com})}$ does not pass to Beck modules (see Proposition 12.3), while in the case of restricted Lie algebras, $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}$ does pass to Beck modules (see Proposition 13.4).

12. Divided power algebras versus commutative algebras

In this section, we take the operad $\mathcal{P} = \text{Com}$ and analyze the effect of the free-forget adjunction Com-Alg $\rightleftharpoons \Gamma(\text{Com})$ -Alg.

We denote by Com_{aug} the category of augmented \mathbb{F} -algebras and use the equivalence $\text{Com-Alg} \cong \text{Com}_{\text{aug}}$, as well as the equivalence $\Gamma(\text{Com})$ -Alg \cong p-Com from Proposition 9.3. P. Berthelot defined the notion of PD envelope of an ideal. In particular, it follows from [Ber74, §2.3] that the forgetful functor

$$U_{\text{Com}}^{\Gamma(\text{Com})}$$
: p-Com \rightarrow Com_{aug}

admits a left adjoint functor

 $F_{\mathrm{Com}}^{\Gamma(\mathrm{Com})} \colon \mathrm{Com}_{\mathrm{aug}} \to \mathrm{p\text{-}Com}$

given by $F_{\text{Com}}^{\Gamma(\text{Com})}(A) = \hat{A}$, where \hat{A} denotes the PD envelope of the augmentation ideal A_+ of A. We denote by η the unit of this adjunction, which is a homomorphism of augmented algebras $\eta_A \colon A \to \hat{A}$.

Let A be a divided power algebra, equivalently, an object of p-Com. Since Beck modules over an augmented algebra B are just B-modules, A is the object $\mathbb{U}_{\text{Com}}(A)$ representing Beck modules over the underlying augmented algebra of A. Recall from Section 9 that $V(A) = A \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} R_f$ represents Beck modules over A. The F-linear ring homomorphism $\theta: A \to V(A)$ is given by $\theta(a) = a \otimes 1$. Denote by Ω_A^1 the usual Kähler differentials over the underlying augmented algebra, whereas $\Omega_{\text{p-Com}}(A)$ was described in Theorem 9.7. The diagram of adjunctions (11.eq.2) specializes to

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \operatorname{Com}_{\operatorname{aug}}/A & \xrightarrow{A \otimes_{(-)} \Omega^{1}_{(-)}} & A \operatorname{-Mod} \\ & & & & & \\ \hline & & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$$

Let \mathfrak{M} be a V(A)-module. By Theorem 9.5 the V(A)-module \mathfrak{M} is associated to a pair (M, π) , where by M we denote \mathfrak{M} viewed as A-module and $\pi: M \to M$ is a p-semilinear map such that $\pi(am) = 0$ holds for all $a \in A_+$ and $m \in M$. Equivalently, the V(A)-module \mathfrak{M} is associated to an abelian group object $A \oplus_p M \to A$ in $(p\text{-Com}/A)_{ab}$, where $A \oplus_p M$ is the semidirect product in Com of A and M together with the map

$$\pi(a,m) = (\pi(a), \pi(m) - a^{p-1}m), \ a \in A_+, \ m \in M_+$$

Via Theorem 9.5, restriction of scalars along $\theta: A \to V(A)$ is the functor sending a pair (M, π) to M, forgetting the *p*-semilinear map π .

Lemma 12.1. Let $A \in \text{Com}_{aug}$ be an augmented algebra, and M be a $V(\hat{A})$ -module. Then the functor

$$\eta_A^* U_{\text{Com}}^{\Gamma(\text{Com})} \colon (\text{p-Com}/\hat{A})_{\text{ab}} \to (\text{Com}_{\text{aug}}/A)_{\text{ab}}$$

is given by

$$\eta_A^* U_{\rm Com}^{\Gamma({\rm Com})}(M) = {}_A M$$

where ${}_{A}M$ denotes M with the A-module structure induced by restriction of scalars along the morphism $\eta_{A}: A \to \hat{A}$.

Proof. In the composite of functors

the first step is restriction of scalars along the ring homomorphism $\theta: \hat{A} \to V(\hat{A})$. The second step is restriction of scalars along the ring homomorphism $\eta_A: A \to \hat{A}$, since this is how pullbacks of Beck modules are computed in commutative algebras.

Proposition 12.2. (1) Let $A \in \text{Com}_{\text{aug}}$ an augmented commutative algebra and M be a $V(\hat{A})$ -module. Then there is a comparison map

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{p-\operatorname{Com}}^{*}(\hat{A}; M) \to \operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{Com}}^{*}(A; {}_{A}M).$$

(2) Let $B \in p$ -Com be a divided power algebra and M be a V(B)-module. Then there is a comparison map

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{p-\operatorname{Com}}^{*}(B; M) \to \operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{Com}}^{*}(B; \theta^{*}M).$$

Proof. Part (1) follows from [Fra15, Proposition 4.12] and Lemma 12.1. Part (2) is a specialization of Proposition 11.5 (3) to the operad P = Com.

We now show that the *p*-envelope functor does not pass to Beck modules:

Proposition 12.3. In the case $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{F}_2$, the functor $F_{\text{Com}}^{\Gamma(\text{Com})}$ that freely adjoint divided power operations does not pass to Beck modules.

Proof. Take the commutative (unital) \mathbb{F}_2 -algebra $A = \mathbb{F}_2$ and the A-module $M = \mathbb{F}_2$ whose generator (only non-zero element) we denote by x. Viewing the A-module as a square-zero split extension $pr: A \oplus M \twoheadrightarrow A$, apply the functor $F_{\text{Com}}^{\Gamma(\text{Com})}$ to obtain the split epimorphism of divided power algebras

$$\hat{pr}: \widehat{A \oplus M} \twoheadrightarrow \hat{A}.$$

Then, $\hat{A} \oplus \hat{M}$ is the free divided power algebra on one generator $\Gamma(x)$, that is, its underlying vector space is isomorphic to the vector space of polynomials $\mathbb{F}_2[x]$, but the multiplication is induced by $x^n * x^m = \binom{m+n}{n} x^{n+m}$. The divided power algebra \hat{A} is still equal to \mathbb{F}_2 . The kernel $K = \ker(\hat{pr})$ is equal to the subalgebra of $\Gamma(x)$ of non-constant polynomials. In K, we have for example, $x * x^2 = 3x^3 = x^3$. So K is not a square-zero algebra, thus the split epimorphism \hat{pr} does not yield a Beck module.

To conclude this section, we will specify the comparison maps of Proposition 11.6 to the case of divided power algebras. Let $g: B \to A$ be a morphism of non-unital divided power algebras. On the one hand,

$$\mathbb{U}_{\operatorname{Com}}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\operatorname{Com}}B} \Omega_{\operatorname{Com}}(B) = A^+ \otimes_{B^+} \Omega^1_{B^+}$$

is spanned by the elements adb for $a \in A$, $b \in B$, under relations expressing the fact that d is a (linear) A^+ -derivation, that is:

$$\begin{cases} d(\lambda b + b') = \lambda db + db' \\ d(bb') = g(b)db' + g(b')db \end{cases}$$

and the action of A^+ is given by the multiplication in $A(a \cdot a'db = (aa')db)$. On the other hand,

$$\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\operatorname{Com})}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\operatorname{Com})}B} \Omega_{\Gamma(\operatorname{Com})}(B) = V(A^+) \otimes_{V(B^+)} \Omega_{\operatorname{p-Com}}(B)$$

is spanned by elements $af^k db$ for $a \in A$, $b \in B$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, under relation expressing the fact that d is a Beck A-derivation in p-Com, that is, we also have

$$d\gamma_p(b) = fdb - g(b)^{p-1}db.$$

The action of $V(A^+)$ is again given by the multiplication in $V(A^+)$, in particular, $(a \otimes f^k) \cdot a' f^{k'} db = aa'^{p^k} f^{k+k'} db$. The comparison map

$$\mathbb{U}_{\operatorname{Com}}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\operatorname{Com}}B} \Omega_{\operatorname{Com}}(B) \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\operatorname{Com})}A \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\operatorname{Com})}B} \Omega_{\Gamma(\operatorname{Com})}(B)$$

from Proposition 11.6 is simply defined by $adb \mapsto af^0 db$.

13. Restricted Lie Algebras versus Lie Algebras

Let \mathbb{F} be a field of prime characteristic p. Let $(H, (-)^{[p]})$ be a restricted Lie algebra. Then by Theorem 10.8 a w(H)-module M is an associated to a pair $(_{u(H)}M, f)$, where $_{u(H)}M$ is M viewed as a u(H)-module and $f:_{u(H)}M \to _{u(H)}M^H$ is a p-semilinear map. Equivalently, the w(H)-module M is associated to the abelian group object

$$H \ltimes_{f u(H)} M \to H$$

in $(\operatorname{RLie}/L)_{ab}$, where $H \ltimes_{f u(H)} M$ denotes the semidirect product in RLie of H by $_{u(H)} M$. In particular,

$$H \ltimes_{f u(H)} M = \{(h, m), h \in H, m \in M\}.$$

The Lie bracket is given by

$$[(h,m),(h',m')] = ([h,h'],hm'-h'm)$$

and the p-map is given by

$$(h,m)^{[p]} = (h^{[p]}, \underbrace{h \cdots h}_{p-1} m + f(m)).$$

The notion of *p*-envelope of a Lie algebra has been studied in detail in [SF88, §2.5]. Let L be a Lie algebra over \mathbb{F} and U(L) its enveloping algebra. The *p*-envelope \hat{L} of a Lie algebra L is the Lie subalgebra of $U(L)_{\text{Lie}}$ which contains L and all iterated associative *p*-th powers. Thus, \hat{L} is a restricted Lie subalgebra of $U(L)_{\text{RLie}}$. We note that L is an ideal in \hat{L} . In [Mil75], A. A. Mil'ner proves that \hat{L} has the following universal property: for all restricted Lie algebra homomorphisms $f: L \to A$, there is exactly one restricted Lie algebra homomorphism $\hat{f}: \hat{L} \to A$ such that $\hat{f} \circ i = f$; see [SF88, §2.5, Theorem 2.5.2]. We then deduce that $\hat{L} \cong F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$, where L is a Lie algebra. It also follows from the universal properties of U(L) and $u(\hat{L})$ that they are isomorphic.

Denote by η the unit of the adjunction $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})} \dashv U_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}$ and ι the unit of the adjunction $u \dashv (-)_{\text{RLie}}$. From the foregoing discussion, for L a Lie algebra, we get a Lie algebra homomorphism $\eta_L \colon L \to \hat{L}$, and a restricted Lie homomorphism $\iota_{\hat{L}} \colon \hat{L} \to u(\hat{L}) \cong U(L)$.

Lemma 13.1. Let *L* be a Lie algebra, and *M* be a $w(\hat{L})$ -module. Then the functor

$$\eta_L^* U_{\text{Lie}}^{\text{(Lie)}} \colon (\text{RLie} / L)_{\text{ab}} \to (\text{Lie} / L)_{\text{ab}}$$

is given by

$$\eta_L^* U_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(M) = {}_{U(L)} M.$$

Proof. Let

$$\hat{L} \ltimes_{f_{u}(\hat{L})} M \to \hat{L}$$

be an abelian group object in $(\text{RLie }/\hat{L})_{ab}$. We have the pullback diagram

Since $L \times_{\hat{L}} (\hat{L} \ltimes_{f_{u}(\hat{L})} M)$ is spanned by the elements (l, (l, m)) with $l \in L$ and $m \in_{u(\hat{L})} M$, we get:

$$\eta_L^* U_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L \ltimes_{f u(\hat{L})} M \to \hat{L}) = L \times_{\hat{L}} (\hat{L} \ltimes_{f u(\hat{L})} M) \to L$$

so, $\psi: L \times_{\hat{L}} (\hat{L} \ltimes_{f_u(\hat{L})} M) \to L$ is an abelian group object in $(\text{Lie} / L)_{ab}$. The kernel of ψ is isomorphic to U(L)M.

Proposition 13.2. (1) Let L be a Lie algebra and M a $w(\hat{L})$ -module. Then there is a comparison map

 $\operatorname{HQ}^*_{\operatorname{RLie}}(\hat{L}; M) \to \operatorname{HQ}^*_{\operatorname{Lie}}(L; U(L)M).$

(2) Let H be a restricted Lie algebra and M a w(H)-module. Then there is a comparison map

 $\mathrm{HQ}^*_{\mathrm{RLie}}(H;M) \to \mathrm{HQ}^*_{\mathrm{Lie}}(H;\theta^*M)$

where $\theta: U(H) \to w(H)$ is the ring homomorphism described in Lemma 10.9.

Proof. Part (1) follows from [Fra15, Proposition 4.12] and Lemma 13.1. Part (2) is a specialization of Proposition 11.5 (3) to the operad P = Lie.

Let us now show that the *p*-envelope functor passes to Beck modules. We will need the following observation:

Remark 13.3. Let H be a restricted Lie algebra and $x_i \in H$. By Jacobson's formula on p-th powers we have:

$$\left(\sum_{i} x_{i}\right)^{[p]} - \left(\sum_{i} x_{i}^{[p]}\right) \in [H, H].$$

Let L be a Lie algebra with basis $(e_i)_{i \in I}$ over a field \mathbb{F} . From the previous formula it follows by induction that the elements of \hat{L} are of the type $\sum_{i \in I, n_i \geq 0} \mathbb{F}e_i^{p^{n_i}} \in U(L)$.

Proposition 13.4. For any field \mathbb{F} of characteristic p, the p-envelope functor $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}$ that freely adjoins a p-map passes to Beck modules.

Proof. For a Lie algebra L, the restricted Lie algebra $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ is spanned by elements of the type $l^{[p^k]}$, for $l \in L$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, where $(-)^{[p^k]}$ represents the k-th iteration of the p-map in $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$. Let $L \ltimes M \to L$ be a Beck module over L, where M is an L-module. Consider the induced split epimorphism $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L \ltimes M) \to F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$. By [SF88, §2.5, Proposition 5.3], $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}$ preserves both surjections and injections. In particular, $l^{[p^k]} \mapsto (l, 0)^{[p^k]}$ and $m^{[p^k]} \mapsto (0, m)^{[p^k]}$ induce split injections $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L) \hookrightarrow F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L \ltimes M)$ and $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(M) \hookrightarrow F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L \ltimes M)$.

Under these injections, the abelian restricted Lie algebra $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(M)$ is a restricted $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ -module. If f is the p-map in $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(M)$, then $(F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(M), f)$ is a $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ Beck module. We then get an injection $g: F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L) \ltimes_f F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(M) \hookrightarrow F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L \ltimes M)$ given by $(l^{[p^{k_1}]}, m^{[p^{k_2}]}) \mapsto (l, 0)^{[p^{k_1}]} + (0, m)^{[p^{k_2}]}$. From Remark 13.3, we deduce that g is in fact an isomorphism, and so, $\Gamma^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L \ltimes M) = (L \ltimes M)$. $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L \ltimes M \to L)$ has the structure of an $F_{\text{Lie}}^{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(L)$ Beck module.

To conclude this section, we will specify the comparison maps of Proposition 11.6 to the case of restricted Lie algebra. Let $g: L \to H$ be a morphism of restricted lie algebra. Then, on the one hand, $\mathbb{U}_{\text{Lie}}L \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\text{Lie}}H} \Omega_{\text{Lie}}(H)$ is spanned by the elements ldh for $l \in L, h \in H$, under relations expressing the fact that d is a (linear) L-derivation:

$$\begin{cases} d(\lambda h + h') = \lambda dh + dh' \\ d([h, h']) = g(h)dh' - g(h')dh \end{cases}$$

and the action of L is given by the bracket in $L(l \cdot l' dh = [l, l'])$. On the other hand, $\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}L \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}H}$ $\Omega_{\Gamma(\text{Lie})}(H) = w(L) \otimes_{w(H)} \Omega_{\text{RLie}}(H)$ is spanned by elements $f^k ldh$ for $l \in U(L)$, $h \in H$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, under relation expressing the fact that d is a Beck L-derivation in RLie, that is, we also have:

$$d(h^{[p]}) = \underbrace{g(h)\cdots g(h)}_{p-1} dh + f dh$$

and the action of w(L) is again given by the multiplication in w(L). In particular, for $l \in L$, $(f^k l) \cdot f^{k'} l' dh = 0$ as soon as k' > 0. The comparison map

$$\mathbb{U}_{\mathrm{Lie}}L \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\mathrm{Lie}}H} \Omega_{\mathrm{Lie}}(H) \to \mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathrm{Lie})}L \otimes_{\mathbb{U}_{\Gamma(\mathrm{Lie})}H} \Omega_{\Gamma(\mathrm{Lie})}(H)$$

from Proposition 11.6 is simply defined by $ldh \mapsto f^0 ldh$.

14. Associative algebras versus restricted Lie algebras

Let \mathbb{F} be a field of prime characteristic p. Denote by η the unit of the adjunction $u \vdash (-)_{\text{RLie}}$. Let $(L, (-)^{[p]})$ be a restricted Lie algebra and let M be an u(L)-bimodule. We denote by u(L) the left u(L)-module obtained from M by the action $l \cdot m := lm - ml$, where the dotless notation is for the left and right bimodule actions on M. Let $A \in As$ be an associative algebra. We recall that the category of Beck A-modules is equivalent to the category of A-bimodules (see [Bar96, $\S2.1$]).

Lemma 14.1. Let L be a restricted Lie algebra, and M be a u(L)-bimodule. Then the functor

$$\eta_L^*(-)_{\text{RLie}} \colon (\text{As }/u(L))_{\text{ab}} \to (\text{RLie }/L)_{\text{ab}}$$

is given by

$$\eta_L^*(-)_{\mathrm{RLie}}(M) = {}_{u(L)}M.$$

Proof. Consider the associative algebra obtained by semidirect product $u(L) \ltimes M$, whose multiplication is given by (u,m)(u',m') = (uu',um'+mu'). The category of Beck u(L)-modules is equivalent to the category of u(L)-bimodules. Under this equivalence, the u(L)-bimodule M is associated to the abelian group object $u(L) \ltimes M \to u(L)$ in $(As/u(L))_{ab}$. The Lie bracket in $(u(L) \ltimes M)_{RLie}$ is given by

$$[(u,m),(u',m')] = (uu' - u'u, um' + mu' - u'm - m'u),$$

and the *p*-map is given by

$$(u,m) \mapsto (u,m)^p.$$

Therefore the *p*-map on elements of the form (0, m) is zero. We have a restricted Lie algebra homomorphism $\eta_L \colon L \to u(L)_{\text{RLie}}$, and a pullback functor $\eta_L^* \colon \text{RLie} / u(L)_{\text{RLie}} \to \text{RLie} / L$. We get a pullback diagram

and $L \times_{u(L)_{\text{RLie}}} (u(L) \ltimes M)_{\text{RLie}}$ is spanned by elements (l, (l, m)) for $l \in L$ and $m \in M$. The Lie bracket of this restricted Lie algebra is given by

$$[(l,(l,m)),(l',(l',m)] = ([l,l'],[(l,m),(l',m')]),$$

and the p-map is given by

$$(l, (l, m)) \mapsto (l^{[p]}, (l, m)^p).$$

Therefore,

 $\eta_L^*(-)_{\mathrm{RLie}}(u(L) \ltimes M \to u(L)) = \eta_L^*((u(L) \ltimes M)_{\mathrm{RLie}} \to u(L)_{\mathrm{RLie}}) = L \times_{u(L)_{\mathrm{RLie}}} (u(L) \ltimes M)_{\mathrm{RLie}} \to L,$ and $\phi: L \times_{u(L)_{\mathrm{RLie}}} (u(L) \ltimes M)_{\mathrm{RLie}} \to L$ is an abelian group object in $(RLie/L)_{\mathrm{ab}}$. The action of Lon $M := \ker \phi$ is given by

$$l \cdot (0, (0, m)) = [(l, (l, 0)), (0, (0, m))] = ([l, 0], [(l, 0), (0, m)]) = (0, (0, lm - ml)).$$

With this action, the module M is the restricted Lie module $_{u(L)}M$. The p-map on M is trivial, $m \mapsto 0$.

Theorem 14.2. Let L be a restricted Lie algebra and M a u(L)-bimodule. Then there is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{As}}^*(u(L), M) \cong \operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{RLie}}^*(L, u(L)M).$$

Proof. The restricted enveloping algebra functor u preserves weak equivalences (see [Pri70, 2.8]). Thus by [Fra15, Proposition 4.12] the comparison map between Quillen cohomology in both categories is an isomorphism.

For an associative algebra A over a field, Quillen cohomology agrees with Hochschild cohomology up to a shift:

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{As}}^{n}(A; M) \cong \operatorname{HH}^{n+1}(A; M) \quad \text{for } n > 0$$

and a small change in degree 0 [Qui70, Proposition 3.6].

15. Good triple of operads and comparison maps in Quillen (CO)homology

J.-L. Loday defined and studied generalized bialgebras and triple of operads in [Lod08]. In this section we prove a comparison isomorphism theorem for Quillen cohomology in the context of good triple of operads. We suppose that the ground field \mathbb{F} has characteristic zero. In that case, if \mathcal{P} is an operad then the norm map $\operatorname{Tr}: S(\mathcal{P}) \to \Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ is a natural isomorphism (see [Fre00]). Therefore a $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebra doesn't carry more structure than a \mathcal{P} -algebra.

Let \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{C} be two algebraic operads. The primitive part of a coalgebra C over the operad \mathcal{C} is defined by

 $Prim C := \{ x \in C \mid \delta(x) = 0, \text{ for any generating cooperation } \delta \}.$

There is a filtration on C given by

$$F_r(C) = \{ x \in C \mid \delta(x) = 0, \text{ for any } \delta \in \mathcal{C}(n), \ n > r \}.$$

We note that $F_1(C)$ is the primitive part of C. The above filtration is called the primitive filtration. A coalgebra C is connected (or conlipotent) if $C = \bigcup_{r \ge 1} F_r C$. A \mathcal{C}^c - \mathcal{A} -bialgebra H is a vector space which is a \mathcal{A} -algebra and \mathcal{C} -coalgebra such that the operations of \mathcal{A} and cooperations of \mathcal{C} acting on H satisfy some compatibility relations.

Let $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{P})$ be a good triple of operads. Then \mathcal{P} denotes the primitive operad $Prim_{\mathcal{C}}\mathcal{A}$. The primitive operad is a suboperad of \mathcal{A} and there is an induced functor

$$G: \mathcal{A}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg} \to \mathcal{P}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}$$

which is a forgetful functor in a sense that the composition

$$\mathcal{A}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}\xrightarrow{\mathrm{G}}\mathcal{P}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}\rightarrow\mathrm{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}}$$

is the forgetful functor

$$\mathcal{A}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg} \to \mathrm{Vect}_{\mathbb{F}}.$$

The functor G admits a left adjoint functor

$$U \colon \mathcal{P}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg} \to \mathcal{A}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}$$

called the universal enveloping functor. Let η be the unit of this adjunction. If P is a \mathcal{P} -algebra then there is a \mathcal{P} -algebra morphism $\eta_P \colon P \to GU(P)$. Moreover, the universal enveloping algebra U(L) of a \mathcal{P} -algebra L is a connected \mathcal{C}^c - \mathcal{A} -bialgebra and Prim U(L) = L.

Let $\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{A}/(\mathcal{P})$ be the quotient operad of \mathcal{A} by the ideal generated by the (nontrivial) primitive operations. Then J.-L. Loday proved a generalised Poincaré—Birkhoff—Witt theorem. In particular, it is proved in [Lod08, Theorem 3.1.4] that for any \mathcal{P} -algebra L there is an isomorphism of \mathcal{Z} -algebras

$$\mathcal{Z}(L) \to gr U(L).$$

Let L, L' be two simplicial \mathcal{P} -algebras. A morphism $f: L \to L'$ is a weak equivalence if it satisfies $\pi_*(f): \pi_*(L) \simeq \pi_*(L')$.

Proposition 15.1. Let $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{P})$ be a good triple of operads. Then the universal enveloping functor $U: \mathcal{P}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg} \to \mathcal{A}\text{-}\mathrm{Alg}$ preserves weak equivalences.

Proof. If L be a simplicial \mathcal{P} -algebra then U(L) is a simplicial \mathcal{A} -algebra. Using Dold-Kan correspondence we denote by U(L) the associated chain complex. The primitive filtration on the universal enveloping algebra makes U(L) a filtered complex. By Loday's generalised Poincaré—Birkhoff—Witt theorem the associated spectral sequence $E_r(U(L))$ of U(L) satisfies

$$E_0(U(L)) \simeq \mathcal{Z}(L)$$

and

$$E_1(U(L)) = H_*(\mathcal{Z}(L)).$$

Let L, L' be two simplicial \mathcal{P} -algebras and $f: L \to L'$ is a weak equivalence. The morphism $U(f): U(L) \to U(L')$ preserves filtrations and it is induced a morphism of spectral sequences

$$E_r(U(L)) \to E'_r(U(L'))$$

Since f is a weak equivalence it follows by a theorem of Dold [Dol58] that

$$H_*(\mathcal{Z}(L)) \simeq H_*(\mathcal{Z}(L')).$$

Therefore

$$E_1U(f): E_1(U(L)) \to E_1(U(L'))$$

is an isomorphism. The filtrations of U(L) and U(L') are complete and bounded below. Hence the spectral sequences converge and the induced map $E_{\infty}U(f)$ is an isomorphism. It follows that U preserves weak equivalences.

Let \mathcal{T} be a operad and $S \neq \mathcal{T}$ -algebra. The category S-modules over \mathcal{T} is equivalent to the category of abelian group objects of \mathcal{T} -Alg/S i.e the category of Beck S-modules in the category of \mathcal{T} -algebras (see [LV12], [GH00]). Hence the category of U(P)-modules over the operad \mathcal{A} is equivalent to the category of Beck U(P)-modules. Under this equivalence the U(P)-module M is associated to the abelian group object $U(P) \ltimes M \to U(P)$, where by $U(P) \ltimes M$ we denote the semidirect product of U(P) by M in the category of \mathcal{A} -algebras. We have the following pullback diagram in the category of \mathcal{P} -algebras,

and

$$0 \to M \to P \times_{GU(P)} G(U(P) \ltimes M) \to P \to 0$$

is an abelian extension in the category of \mathcal{P} -algebras. Therefore is induced on M a structure of P-module over the operad \mathcal{P} which we denote by $_PM$.

Theorem 15.2. Let $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{P})$ be a good triple of operads. Let P be an \mathcal{P} -algebra and M a Beck U(P)-module. Then we have the following isomorphism

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{\mathcal{A}\operatorname{-Alg}}^*(U(P), M) \simeq \operatorname{HQ}_{\mathcal{P}\operatorname{-Alg}}^*(P, PM).$$

Proof. By Proposition 15.1 we have that the enveloping algebra functor U preserves weak equivalences. Then the theorem follows from [Fra15, Proposition 4.12].

If we consider the good triple (Com, As, Lie) then by Theorem 15.2 we recover in characteristic zero a well know result (see [CE56, §XIII, Theorem 5.1]). In particular, let L be a Lie algebra over \mathbb{F} and M a U(L)-bimodule. By Theorem 15.2 we have the following isomorphism

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{As-Alg}}^*(U(L), M) \cong \operatorname{HQ}_{\operatorname{Lie-Alg}}^*(L, {}_LM).$$

where ${}_{L}M$ is M viewed as a left Lie L-module via the action $l \cdot m := lm - ml$ for all $l \in L$ and $m \in M$. Moreover, the Quillen cohomology for the category of associative algebras is shifted Hochschild cohomology of associative algebras and Quillen cohomology of Lie algebras is shifted Chevalley–Eilenberg cohomology of Lie algebras (cf. [Bar96]). In other words we have

$$\operatorname{HH}^*_{Hoch}(U(L), M) \cong H^*_{\operatorname{Lie}}(L, {}_LM).$$

In [Lod01] J.-L. Loday defined the notion of dendriform algebra which dichotomizes the notion of associative algebra. A dendriform algebra H is a vector space over \mathbb{F} equipped with two binary operations $\prec, \succ : H \otimes H \to H$ such that

$$(x \prec y) \prec z = x \prec (y \ast z)$$
$$(x \succ y) \prec z = x \succ (y \prec z)$$
$$(x \ast y) \succ z = x \succ (y \succ z)$$

where $x * y = x \succ y + x \prec y$ and $x, y, z \in H$. The product * is associative. One can notice that a dendriform algebra is an associative algebra whose product splits into two binary operations which satisfy the above identities. Dendriform algebras are Koszul dual to diassociative algebras (see [LV12]). Besides, M. Gerstenhaber and A. Voronov in [GV95] introduced the notion of brace algebras. We denote by \mathcal{D} the operad associated to dendriform algebras and by \mathcal{B} the operad associated to brace algebras.

M. Ronco in [Ron02] proves a Milnor—Moore type theorem for dendriform algebras. In particular, there is a good triple of operads (As, \mathcal{D}, \mathcal{B}). The concept of bimodule over a dendriform algebra is

defined by M. Aguiar in [Agu04]. Cohomology of dendriform algebras with coefficients in bimodules has been studied by A. Das in [Das22].

Let D be a dendriform algebra. The notion of Beck D-module is equivalent to the notion of bimodule over D. By Theorem 15.2 we have the following.

Proposition 15.3. Let B be a \mathcal{B} -algebra and M a $U_{dend}(B)$ -bimodule, where $U_{dend}(B)$ denote the enveloping dendriform algebra of the brace algebra B. Then we have the following isomorphism

$$\operatorname{HQ}_{\mathcal{D}-\operatorname{Alg}}^*(U_{dend}(B), M) \cong \operatorname{HQ}_{\mathcal{B}-\operatorname{Alg}}^*(B, {}_BM).$$

Remark 15.4. In prime characteristic, for classical bialgebras we proved Theorem 14.2. We notice that the primitives of a classical bialgebra is a restricted Lie algebra i.e. a $\Gamma(Lie)$ -algebra. If one wants extend this result to the context of generalized bialgebras, the right framework seems to be the category of $\Gamma(\mathcal{P})$ -algebras.

References

- [Agu04] M. Aguiar, Infinitesimal bialgebras, pre-Lie and dendriform algebras, Hopf algebras, Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., vol. 237, Dekker, New York, 2004, pp. 1–33. MR2051728
- [And67] M. André, Méthode simpliciale en algèbre homologique et algèbre commutative, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 32, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1967 (French). MR0214644 (35 #5493)
- [And74] M. André, Homologie des algèbres commutatives, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 206, Springer-Verlag, 1974.
- [Bal97] D. Balavoine, Deformations of algebras over a quadratic operad, Operads: Proceedings of Renaissance Conferences (Hartford, CT/Luminy, 1995), Contemp. Math., vol. 202, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, pp. 207–234, DOI 10.1090/conm/202/02581. MR1436922
- [BB69] M. Barr and J. Beck, Homology and standard constructions, Sem. on Triples and Categorical Homology Theory (ETH, Zürich, 1966/67), Springer, Berlin, 1969, pp. 245–335. MR0258917
- [Bar96] M. Barr, Cartan-Eilenberg cohomology and triples, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 112 (1996), no. 3, 219–238, DOI 10.1016/0022-4049(95)00138-7. MR1410176
- [BB11] H.-J. Baues and D. Blanc, Comparing cohomology obstructions, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 215 (2011), no. 6, 1420–1439, DOI 10.1016/j.jpaa.2010.09.003. MR2769241 (2012f:55022)
- [Bec67] J. M. Beck, TRIPLES, ALGEBRAS AND COHOMOLOGY, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1967. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Columbia University. MR2616383
- [Ber74] P. Berthelot, Cohomologie cristalline des schémas de caractéristique p > 0, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 407, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1974 (French). MR0384804
- [BDG04] D. Blanc, W. G. Dwyer, and P. G. Goerss, The realization space of a Π-algebra: a moduli problem in algebraic topology, Topology 43 (2004), no. 4, 857 –892.
- [BJT12] D. Blanc, M. W. Johnson, and J. M. Turner, Higher homotopy operations and André-Quillen cohomology, Adv. Math. 230 (2012), no. 2, 777–817, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2012.02.009. MR2914966
- [Bor94] F. Borceux, Handbook of Categorical Algebra 2: Categories and Structures, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 51, Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- [Bor91] A. Borel, Linear algebraic groups, 2nd ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 126, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991. MR1102012
- [Car56] H. Cartan, Puissances divisées. Exposé 7, Algèbres d'Eilenberg-MacLane et homotopie, 2nd ed., Séminaire Henri Cartan, 1954/1955, vol. 7, 1956, 1956, pp. 1–11.
- [CE56] H. Cartan and S. Eilenberg, Homological algebra, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1956. MR0077480
- [CA86] A. M. Cegarra and E. R. Aznar, An exact sequence in the first variable for torsor cohomology: the 2dimensional theory of obstructions, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 39 (1986), no. 3, 197–250, DOI 10.1016/0022-4049(86)90145-3. MR0821890
- [Das22] A. Das, Cohomology and deformations of dendriform algebras, and Dend_∞-algebras, Comm. Algebra 50 (2022), no. 4, 1544–1567, DOI 10.1080/00927872.2021.1985130. MR4391505
- [Dok04] I. Dokas, Quillen-Barr-Beck (co-) homology for restricted Lie algebras, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 186 (2004), no. 1, 33–42, DOI 10.1016/S0022-4049(03)00120-8. MR2025911
- [Dok09] _____, Triple cohomology and divided powers algebras in prime characteristic, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 87 (2009), no. 2, 161–173, DOI 10.1017/S1446788708081019. MR2551116
- [Dok15] _____, Torsors and the Quillen-Barr-Beck cohomology for restricted Lie algebras, Homology Homotopy Appl. 17 (2015), no. 1, 203–234, DOI 10.4310/HHA.2015.v17.n1.a10. MR3338548

- [Dok23] _____, On K\"ahler differentials of divided power algebras, J. Homotopy Relat. Struct. 18 (2023), no. 2-3, 153–176, DOI 10.1007/s40062-023-00325-2. MR4645755
- [Dol58] A. Dold, Homology of symmetric products and other functors of complexes, Ann. of Math. (2) 68 (1958), 54–80, DOI 10.2307/1970043. MR0097057
- [DF04] D. S. Dummit and R. M. Foote, Abstract algebra, 3rd ed., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, 2004. MR2286236
- [Dus75] J. Duskin, Simplicial methods and the interpretation of "triple" cohomology, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 3 (1975), v+135, DOI 10.1090/memo/0163. MR0393196
- [Fra10] M. Frankland, Quillen Cohomology of Pi-Algebras and Application to their Realization, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2010. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Massachusetts Institute of Technology. MR2801771
- [Fra11] _____, Moduli spaces of 2-stage Postnikov systems, Topology Appl. 158 (2011), no. 11, 1296–1306, DOI 10.1016/j.topol.2011.05.002. MR2806362
- [Fra15] _____, Behavior of Quillen (co)homology with respect to adjunctions, Homology Homotopy Appl. 17 (2015), no. 1, 67–109, DOI 10.4310/HHA.2015.v17.n1.a3. MR3338541
- [Fre98] B. Fresse, Homologie de Quillen pour les algèbres de Poisson, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 326 (1998), no. 9, 1053–1058 (French, with English and French summaries). MR1647186
- [Fre00] _____, On the homotopy of simplicial algebras over an operad, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 352 (2000), no. 9, 4113 -4141, DOI 10.1090/S0002-9947-99-02489-7. MR1665330 (2000m:18015)
- [Fre04] _____, Koszul duality of operads and homology of partition posets, Homotopy theory: relations with algebraic geometry, group cohomology, and algebraic K-theory, Contemp. Math., vol. 346, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004, pp. 115–215, DOI 10.1090/conm/346/06287. MR2066499
- [Ger64] M. Gerstenhaber, On the deformation of rings and algebras, Ann. of Math. (2) 79 (1964), 59–103, DOI 10.2307/1970484. MR0171807
- [GV95] M. Gerstenhaber and A. A. Voronov, Homotopy G-algebras and moduli space operad, Internat. Math. Res. Notices 3 (1995), 141–153, DOI 10.1155/S1073792895000110. MR1321701
- [GJ94] E. Getzler and J. D. S. Jones, Operads, homotopy algebra and iterated integrals for double loop spaces (1994), Preprint, available at arXiv:hep-th/9403055.
- [GK94] V. Ginzburg and M. Kapranov, Koszul duality for operads, Duke Math. J. 76 (1994), no. 1, 203–272, DOI 10.1215/S0012-7094-94-07608-4. MR1301191
- [Gle82] P. G. Glenn, Realization of cohomology classes in arbitrary exact categories, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 25 (1982), no. 1, 33–105, DOI 10.1016/0022-4049(82)90094-9. MR0660389
- [Goe90] P. G. Goerss, André-Quillen cohomology and the homotopy groups of mapping spaces: understanding the E₂term of the Bousfield-Kan spectral sequence, J. Pure Appl. Algebra **63** (1990), no. 2, 113–153. MR1043745
- [GH00] P. G. Goerss and M. J. Hopkins, André-Quillen (co)-homology for simplicial algebras over simplicial operads, Une dégustation topologique [Topological morsels]: homotopy theory in the Swiss Alps (Arolla, 1999), Contemp. Math., vol. 265, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000, pp. 41–85. MR1803952
- [GH04] P. G. Goerss and M. J. Hopkins, Moduli spaces of commutative ring spectra, Structured ring spectra, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 315, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2004, pp. 151–200, DOI 10.1017/CBO9780511529955.009. MR2125040 (2006b:55010)
- [Gro68] A. Grothendieck, Crystals and the de Rham cohomology of schemes, Dix exposés sur la cohomologie des schémas, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 3, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1968, pp. 306–358. Notes by I. Coates and O. Jussila. MR0269663
- [Hoc54] G. Hochschild, Cohomology of restricted Lie algebras, Amer. J. Math. 76 (1954), 555–580, DOI 10.2307/2372701. MR0063361
- [Iko20] S. Ikonicoff, Divided power algebras over an operad, Glasg. Math. J. 62 (2020), no. 3, 477–517, DOI 10.1017/s0017089519000223. MR4133334
- [Iko23] _____, Divided power algebras and distributive laws, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 227 (2023), no. 8, Paper No. 107356, DOI 10.1016/j.jpaa.2023.107356. MR4549007
- [Jac37] N. Jacobson, Abstract derivation and Lie algebras, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 42 (1937), no. 2, 206–224, DOI 10.2307/1989656. MR1501922
- [Jac62] _____, Lie algebras, Interscience Tracts in Pure and Applied Mathematics, No. 10, Interscience Publishers (a division of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.), New York-London, 1962. MR0143793
- [Kel05] B. Keller, Deformation quantization after Kontsevich and Tamarkin, Déformation, quantification, théorie de Lie, Panor. Synthèses, vol. 20, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2005, pp. 19–62. MR2274224
- [KS00] M. Kontsevich and Y. Soibelman, Deformations of algebras over operads and the Deligne conjecture, Conférence Moshé Flato 1999, Vol. I (Dijon), Math. Phys. Stud., vol. 21, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2000, pp. 255–307. MR1805894
- [Liv98] M. Livernet, Homotopie rationnelle des algèbres sur une opérade, Prépublication de l'Institut de Recherche Mathématique Avancée [Prepublication of the Institute of Advanced Mathematical Research], vol. 1998/32,

Université Louis Pasteur, Département de Mathématique, Institut de Recherche Mathématique Avancée, Strasbourg, 1998 (French, with French summary). Thèse, Université Louis Pasteur (Strasbourg I), Strasbourg, 1998. MR1695322

- [Lod01] J.-L. Loday, Dialgebras, Dialgebras and related operads, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1763, Springer, Berlin, 2001, pp. 7–66, DOI 10.1007/3-540-45328-8<u>2</u>. MR1860994
- [Lod08] _____, Generalized bialgebras and triples of operads, Astérisque **320** (2008), x+116 (English, with English and French summaries). MR2504663
- [LV12] J.-L. Loday and B. Vallette, Algebraic operads, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 346, Springer, Heidelberg, 2012. MR2954392
- [May66] J. P. May, The cohomology of restricted Lie algebras and of Hopf algebras, J. Algebra 3 (1966), 123–146, DOI 10.1016/0021-8693(66)90009-3. MR193126
- [Mil84] H. Miller, The Sullivan conjecture on maps from classifying spaces, Ann. of Math. (2) **120** (1984), no. 1, 39–87. MR750716
- [Mil11] J. Millès, André-Quillen cohomology of algebras over an operad, Adv. Math. 226 (2011), no. 6, 5120–5164, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2011.01.002. MR2775896
- [Mil75] A. A. Mil'ner, Irreducible representations of modular Lie algebras, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 39 (1975), no. 6, 1240–1259, 1437 (Russian). MR0419546
- [Par68] B. Pareigis, Kohomologie von p-Lie-Algebren, Math. Z. 104 (1968), 281–336, DOI 10.1007/BF01110334 (German). MR289591
- [Pri70] S. B. Priddy, Primary cohomology operations for simplicial Lie algebras, Illinois J. Math. 14 (1970), 585–612. MR270364
- [Qui67] D. G. Quillen, Homotopical algebra, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1967. MR0223432
- [Qui70] D. Quillen, On the (co-) homology of commutative rings, Applications of Categorical Algebra (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XVII, New York, 1968), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1970, pp. 65–87. MR0257068
- [Rez96] C. W. Rezk, Spaces of algebra structures and cohomology of operads, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1996. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Massachusetts Institute of Technology. MR2716655
- [Rob65] N. Roby, Les algèbres à puissances divisées, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 89 (1965), 75–91 (French). MR193127
- [Ron02] M. Ronco, Eulerian idempotents and Milnor-Moore theorem for certain non-cocommutative Hopf algebras, J. Algebra 254 (2002), no. 1, 152–172, DOI 10.1016/S0021-8693(02)00097-2. MR1927436
- [Sou87] J.-P. Soublin, Puissances divisées en caractéristique non nulle, J. Algebra 110 (1987), no. 2, 523–529, DOI 10.1016/0021-8693(87)90064-0 (French). MR910402
- [SF88] H. Strade and R. Farnsteiner, Modular Lie algebras and their representations, Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 116, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 1988. MR0929682
- [Tam98] D. E. Tamarkin, Another proof of M. Kontsevich formality theorem (1998), Preprint, available at arXiv:math/9803025.
- [Wat79] W. C. Waterhouse, Introduction to affine group schemes, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 66, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1979. MR547117

NATIONAL AND KAPODISTRIAN UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS *Email address*: iodokas@math.uoa.gr

UNIVERSITY OF REGINA Email address: Martin.Frankland@uregina.ca

UNIVERSITY OF OTTAWA Email address: sikonico@uottawa.ca